

Departamento de Biologia

Elsa Patrícia Ribeiro Pereira Impact of wildfire ashes on aquatic systems: diatoms.

Impacto de cinzas de incêndios florestais em sistemas aquáticos: diatomáceas.



Departamento de Biologia

# Elsa Patrícia Ribeiro Pereira

Impact of wildfire ashes on aquatic systems: diatoms.

# Impacto de cinzas de incêndios florestais em sistemas aquáticos: diatomáceas.

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Toxicologia e Ecotoxicologia, realizada sob a orientação científica da Doutora Salomé Fernandes Pinheiro de Almeida, Professora Auxiliar do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Aveiro, e co-orientação do Doutor Nelson José Cabaços Abrantes, investigador assistente no Departamento do Ambiente e Ordenamento e no CESAM da Universidade de Aveiro, e da Doutora Isabel Maria Alves Natividade Campos, investigadora júnior do Departamento do Ambiente e Ordenamento da Universidade de Aveiro.

> Esta dissertação foi financiada por Fundos FEDER através do Programa Operacional Fatores de Competitividade – COMPETE e por Fundos Nacionais através da FCT – Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia no âmbito do projeto AQUAFIRE (PTDC/CTA-AMB/28936/2017).

# DECLARAÇÃO

Declaro que este relatório é integralmente da minha autoria, estando devidamente referenciadas as fontes e obras consultadas, bem como identificadas de modo claro as citações dessas obras. Não contém, por isso, qualquer tipo de plágio quer de textos publicados, qualquer que seja o meio dessa publicação, incluindo meios eletrónicos, quer de trabalhos académicos.

#### palavras-chave

Incêndios florestais, cinzas, metais, hidrocarbonetos aromáticos policíclicos, extratos aquosos de cinzas, diatomáceas, teratologias.

resumo

Os incêndios florestais constituem um grande problema ambiental em países do sul da Europa, sendo um fenómeno recorrente e com diversos impactos. Um deles é o seu papel na produção, mobilização e distribuição de contaminantes, em particular metais e hidrocarbonetos aromáticos policíclicos (PAHs). Ambos são contaminantes de grande preocupação, elevada persistência ambiental, toxicidade e tendência a bioacumular e biomagnificar. Os incêndios florestais também têm a capacidade de aumentar a escorrência superficial, sendo que o consequente transporte de sedimentos e cinzas com PAHs e metais fixados pode acabar em habitats aquáticos. Desta forma, o input de escorrência superficial com diferentes contaminantes pode culminar em efeitos tóxicos em espécies aquáticas, entre as quais diatomáceas. Tendo em conta que estas microalgas são um bom indicador ecológico, testes ecotoxicológicos foram feitos em Nitzschia palea (NPAL) e Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) com dois extratos aquosos de cinzas (AEA), feitos com cinzas de baixa e alta severidade (LS e HS), derivadas de incêndios de baixa/média severidade (primeira campanha, em novembro) e alta severidade (segunda campanha, em março), respetivamente. Considerando que as diatomáceas reagem ao ambiente envolvente, foi observada uma resposta diferente aos dois AEA. Um aumento significativo do crescimento foi observado nos testes de toxicidade das duas espécies em AEA de alta severidade, enquanto em LS ocorreu o oposto, com NPAL a apresentar um EC<sub>50</sub> de 104,98% e ADMI, mais sensível a apresentar um EC<sub>50</sub> de 84,78%. As diferenças na toxicidade dos AEA podem ser devidas a diferenças na sua química. Ambas as espécies demonstraram respostas similares em todas as concentrações em ambos os AEA considerando anomalias da frústula (cerca de 50% de valvas teratológicas). As teratologias também ocorreram nas comunidades de diatomáceas do rio Pequeno nomeadamente em Karayevia oblongella (KOBG), mais abundante na primeira campanha e Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) que foi mais abundante na segunda. Este resultado pode ser derivado dos diferentes momentos de amostragem (Outono e Primavera, respetivamente). Resumindo, o presente estudo demonstra os potenciais impactos de incêndios florestais em meios lóticos, comprometendo as condições químicas e ecológicas. Em adição demonstra que futuras pesquisas devem ser feitas, com o intuito de compreender melhor e avaliar os impactos reais dos incêndios florestais nos ecossistemas.

keywords	Wildfires, ash, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, aqueous extracts of ash, diatoms, teratologies.
Abstract	Forest fires are a major environmental problem in countries of southern – Europe, being a recurrent phenomenon, with distant impacts. One of them is their role on the production, mobilization and distribution of contaminants, in particular metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Both of them are contaminants of major concern, due to their high environmental persistence, toxicity and tendency to bioaccumulate and biomagnify. Wildfires also have the ability to increase runoff and the consequent transport of sediments and ash with PAHs and metals attached can end up in downstream aquatic habitats. Therefore, the input of surface runoff with different contaminants, could culminate in toxic effects on aquatic species, amidst diatoms. Since these microalgae are a good ecological indicator, ecotoxicological tests were performed on <i>Nitzschia palea</i> (NPAL) and <i>Achnanthidium minutissimum</i> (ADMI) with two aqueous extracts of ash (AEA) made with ashes of low and high severity (LS and HS), from wildfires of low/moderate severity (fist campaign in november), and high severity (second campaign in march), respectively. Whereas diatoms react to the surrounding environment, they responded differently to the different AEA. A significant increment on the growth in the toxicity tests of both species was observed in high severity AEA, while in the LS the opposite occurred, with NPAL presenting an EC <sub>50</sub> of 104.98% and ADMI, the most sensitive presented an EC <sub>50</sub> of 104.98% and ADMI, the most sensitive presented an EC <sub>50</sub> of river Pequeno mainly in <i>Karayevia oblongella</i> (KOBG), more abundant in the first campaign and in <i>Achnanthidium minutissimum</i> (ADMI) more abundant in the second. This may be due to the different sampling season (autum and spring respectively). All in all, the present study highlights the potential impacts of wildfires on water bodies, compromising the chemical and ecological conditions. In addition, it demonstrates that further research should be done in order to better understand and evaluate the

o júri

presidente

Doutora Joana Isabel do Vale Lourenço Investigadora Douturada (nível 1), Universidade de Aveiro

Doutora Carmen Lopes Elias Investigadora, Instituto Politécnico de Leiria

Professora Doutora Salomé Fernandes Pinheiro de Almeida Professora Auxiliar, Universidade de Aveiro

# CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1 -
2. Materials and Methods	7 -
2.1. Study area	7 -
2.2. Sampling Design	8 -
2.2.1. Ash	8 -
2.2.2. Water and Sediments	9 -
2.2.3. Phytobenthos	9 -
2.2.3.1. Sample processing	9 -
2.4. Preparation of aqueous extracts of ash (AEA) and analytical procedures	10 -
2.4.1. Analytical procedures	10 -
2.4.1.1. Sediments samples	10 -
2.4.1.2 AEA and Water samples	12 -
2.5. Diatom culture conditions	13 -
2.6. Growth curves	13 -
2.7. Ecotoxicological tests	14 -
2.8. Diatom valve teratologies	15 -
2.9. Data analyses	15 -
2.9.1. Diatom communities' structure	15 -
2.9.2. Ecotoxicological test	16 -
3. Results	16 -
3.1. Environmental Parameters	16 -
3.1.1 Stream Sediments	16 -
3.1.2 Stream water	17 -
3.1.3 Aqueous Extracts of Ash (AEA)	19 -
3.2. Analysis of diatom communities	20 -
3.3. Ecotoxicological Tests	23 -
3.3.1. Growth curves	23 -
3.3.2. Inhibition test	24 -
3.3.3. Teratologies	26 -
4. Discussion	28 -
4.1 Environmental parameters	28 -
4.2 Diatom communities	30 -
4.3 Ecotoxicological Tests	32 -
5. Final considerations	35 -
6. References	36 -
Annex II – Preparation of 1 L of Chu10 modified culture medium (Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lunc	l,
1962)	I

Annex III – Preparation of 1L of DVII culture medium (Isabelle, 2011; Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lu	nd,
1962)	II
Annex IV – SIMPER results relatively to diatoms' community structure	IV
Annex V – PERMANOVA results relatively to the ecotoxicological tests	VI

# CAPTIONS

# Figures:

Figure 1 – Geographical localization of the sampling area Nespereira de Cima village – 7-
Figure 2 –Catchments, sampling points in River Pequeno and wildfires' area – 8 -
Figure 3 - Multidimensional scaling analysis ordination of diatoms of the first sampling moment (1)
and the second (2) 21 -
Figure 4 - Growth curves for Nitzschia palea (NPAL) and Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) in
both photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h), in DVII culture medium 23 -
Figure 5 - Growth curves for Nitzschia palea (NPAL) and Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) in
both photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h), in Chu10 modified (Isabelle, 2011; Stein,
1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962) culture medium 24 -
Figure 6 - Growth rate of ADMI after 96h in different concentrations of AEA originated from ashes
of low and high severity, with the respective standard deviation. Statistically significant
differences (p < 0.005) between the controls and remaining concentrations are indicated with
an asterisk (*) 25 -
Figure 7 - Growth rate of NPAL after 96h in different concentration of AEA originated from ashes of
low and high severity, with the respective standard deviation. Statistically significant
differences ( $p < 0.005$ ) between the controls and remaining concentrations are indicated with
an asterisk (*) 25 -
Figure 8 - Teratologies observed in ADMI during the ecotoxicological test with ashes of low
severity. It can be observed: normal cells (a), different types and degrees of valve abnormal
shape (b, c, d, e, f, g, h, i, j, k, l, m, n, o, p, q and r), and mixed deformities (h, i, q and r). Scale
bar = 10.0 μm 26 -
Figure 9 - Teratologies observed in NPAL during the ecotoxicological test with ashes of low
severity. It can be observed: normal cells (a, b and n), slight valve abnormality (c, d, e, m and
o), kidney shape (f, g, h, l, j, k, l and m). Scale bar = 10.0 $\mu m.$
Figure 10 - Nitzschia palea and Achnanthidium minutissimum percentage of valve teratologies after
96h in different concentrations of low severity AEA, with standard deviation. Statistically
significant differences (p < 0.005) are indicated with an asterisk (*)
Figure 11 - Nitzschia palea and Achnanthidium minutissimum percentage of valve teratologies after
96h in different concentrations of high severity AEA, with the respective standard deviation.
Statistically significant differences ( $p < 0.005$ ) between the controls and remaining
concentrations are indicated with an asterisk (*) 28 -

# Tables:

Table 1 – Final concentrations of DVII medium and AEA per concentration tested (mL) 14 -
Table 2 - Metal concentrations in stream sediments (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> ) on both campaigns 16 -
Table 3 - Total carbon (TC) present in stream sediments (g kg-1) in both campaigns 17 -
Table 4 - Temperature (T°C), pH, electric conductivity (EC), total dissolved solids (TDS), dissolved
oxygen (O <sub>2</sub> ) and current velocity measured on the field on both campaigns 17 -
Table 5 - Metal concentrations in stream water samples ( $\mu$ g L <sup>-1</sup> ) collected in both campaigns 18 -
Table 6 – Quantification of detected PAHs in the stream water samples ( $\mu$ g L <sup>-1</sup> ) collected in both
campaigns 18 -
Table 7 - Quantification of nutrients in stream water samples collected in both campaigns. Total
Organic Carbon (TOC), Inorganic Carbon (IC), Total dissolved Carbon (TCd) and Total
particulate Carbon (TCp) 19 -
Table 8 - Metal concentrations in AEA (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) used in the ecotoxicological tests (low severity - LS
and high severity – HS) 19 -
Table 9 – Quantification of detected PAHs in the AEA ( $\mu$ g L <sup>-1</sup> ) used in the ecotoxicological tests
(Iow severity - LS and high severity - HS)
Table 10 - Quantification of nutrients in AEA used in the ecotoxicological tests (low severity - LS
and high severity - HS). Total Organic Carbon (TOC), Inorganic Carbon (IC), Total dissolved
Carbon (TCd) and Total particulate Carbon (TCp) 20 -
Table 11 – Number of valves of the dominant species in the three sampling sites of the autumn
(15/nov/18) and spring campaigns (5/jun/19). Shaded cells represent the dominant taxa in
each location 22 -
Table 12 - Percentage of counted valves of Achnanthidium minutissimum normal valves (ADMI)
and teratological valves (ADMT) and of Karayevia oblongella normal valves (KOBG) and
teratological valves (KOTG) in the two sampling moments considering the entire community
(100%). (For the other counted taxa see Annex I) 22 -
Table 13 - EQR values of the different sampling locations and respective water quality class 23 -
Table 14 - One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) results for the growth rates of Achnanthidium
minutissimum (ADMI) and Nitzschia palea (NPAL), exposed to High Severity (HS) and Low
Severity (LS) AEA 24 -
Table 15 - EC <sub>10</sub> and EC <sub>50</sub> values (% AEA concentration) and respective 95 %-confidence limits for
growth rates of Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) and Nitzschia palea (NPAL), exposed to
High Severity (HS) and Low Severity (LS) AEA for 96h. 'NT' stands for – no toxicity 26 -
Table 16 – PERMANOVA main tests results for the teratologies percentage of Nitzschia palea
(NPAL) and Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI), exposed to Low Severity (LS) and High
Severity (HS) AEA 27 -
Table 17 - SIMPER results: autumn campaign (15/nov/18), with an average similarity of 57.19%. IV
Table 18 - SIMPER results: spring campaign (5/jun/19), with an average similarity of 62.87% IV

Table 19 - SIMPER results: autumn campaign (15/nov/18) and spring campaign (5/jun/19) with an
average dissimilarity of 58.03%V
Table 20 - PERMANOVA results for ADMI on low severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 1 – 12.5%, 2 –
25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%
Table 21 - PERMANOVA results for NPAL on low severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 1 – 12.5%, 2 –
25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100% VI
Table 22 - PERMANOVA results for ADMI on high severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 0 - control, 1 -
12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%
Table 23 - PERMANOVA results for NPAL on high severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 0 - control, 1 -
12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%

#### 1. Introduction

Wildfires are a recurrent and natural phenomenon of most forest ecosystems in Mediterranean countries of southern - Europe, especially in dry years (Pausas, 2004; Pereira *et al.*, 2015). Nowadays, fire regime is strongly connected to land abandonment, that combined with the extensive planting of highly flammable tree species results in an increment of fuel load (Lloret, 2004; Moreira *et al.*, 2009; Carmo *et al.*, 2011; Shakesby, 2011). During the last decade a decreasing number of forest fires in Portugal (minus 3.6% of occurrences) was observed, whilst an increment of 428% of Burnt area occurred, with 442.418 ha of forest area affected in a single year (2017) (DGAPPF, 2017). The natural regime of wildfires is changing (IPCC, 2013; Moreira *et al.*, 2011; Mermoz, Kitzberger, & Veblen, 2005), and in the future these events will probably suffer a rise in severity and frequency in Portugal due to human activities, climate change, bad management of the forest areas, fire suppression and the character of the country's forestry activities (Fischlin *et al.* 2007; Pereira *et al.*, 2006, 2014).

Forest fires induce direct and/or indirect impacts and the post-fire induced overall changes can lead to short-, medium-, and long- term variations, such as changes in hydrological and geomorphological processes (DeBano *et al.*, 2005; Shakesby, 2011; Shakesby & Doerr, 2006). They can have large environmental, social and economic consequences, including: economic losses, impacts on terrestrial, aquatic and atmospheric compartments, adverse effects on biodiversity and land-use sustainability, and risk for public health and safety. In addition, forest fires also provide severe and instant impacts on the function and structure of ecosystems and their different compartments, while affecting the structure and composition of vegetation, shaping the landscape, and impacting biogeochemical cycles (Bodí *et al.*, 2014; Flannigan, Stocks, & Wotton, 2000; Neary, Ryan, & DeBano, 2005; Smith *et al.*, 2011).

An important consequence of wildfires with ecological, hydrological and geomorphological implications is the deposition of a layer of ash on the topsoil. According to Bodí *et al.* (2014), ash is the "particulate residue remaining, or deposited on the ground, from the burning of wildland fuels and consisting of mineral materials and charred organic components", and it's composed of small-sized granulates that can be assimilated into the soil profile after its deposition. It is naturally a very heterogeneous material, conditioned by: type and plant species, part Burnt (needles, bark, timber), soil type, combustion process, extensiveness and temperature (fire severity), meteorological conditions before,

after and during fire, the mixture of different flammable materials, and the time of exposure to elevated temperatures, which influences the chemical and physical characteristics of the ashes and its leachates as well as its spatial distribution (Abrantes et al., 2017; Balfour & Woods, 2013; Bodí et al., 2014; Demeyer et al., 2001; Gabet & Bookter 2011; Goforth et al. 2005). It is alkaline and primarily constituted by carbonates, oxides and hydroxides, being the major inorganic components magnesium (Mg), calcium (Ca), silicon (Si) and potassium (K) (Demeyer et al., 2001; Etiégni & Campbell, 1991; Gabet & Bookter, 2011; Pandey & Singh, 2010; Plumlee et al., 2007) and in smaller quantities sodium (Na), sulphur (S) and phosphorous (P) (Bodí et al., 2014). However, it also includes major and trace elements, like mercury (Hg), zinc (Zn), copper (Cu), chromium (Cr), aluminum (Al), iron (Fe), lead (Pb), nickel (Ni), vanadium (V), cobalt (Co), cadmium (Cd) and manganese (Mn). Some of these components are essential for living organisms such as zinc (Zn), iron (Fe) and copper (Cu), for example for gene regulation, protein structure stability and electron transfer reactions. Conversely others like mercury (Hg), cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) may replace or displace essential metals, which causes toxic effects, interfering with the correct functioning of enzymes and associated cofactors (Gifford et al., 2004), being lead one of the primary inorganic contaminants in humans, animals and plants (Mu et al., 2018). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), produced during the combustion process, should also be taken into consideration due to their carcinogenic and mutagenic properties, wide range of ecotoxicological effects, environmental persistence, high toxicity, and predisposition to bioaccumulate and bioamplify in the food chain, which makes them dangerous contaminants (ATSDR, 1995; IARC, 1991, 2010).

Ashes can be mobilized or redistributed from its original site by means of water erosion, surface runoff or wind, into lakes, footslopes, reservoirs, surface depressions, streams and rivers, having impacts outside the Burnt area and affecting water quality and aquatic organisms. Hence, wildfires and the subsequent rainfall are key factors in the distribution of trace, minor, and major chemical elements associated to ashes in the terrestrial as well as aquatic compartments (Abdel-Shafy, 2015; Blandon *et al.*, 2014; Bodí *et al.*, 2014; Santín *et al.*, 2015; Smith *et al.*, 2011). These compounds may have impacts on surface and groundwater chemical composition, throughout their release by leaching from ash-soil interactions into the soil profile, combustion of vegetation, soil organic matter mineralization, or being eroded by surface runoff. Therefore, the mobilization of these compounds makes these processes important inputs of contaminants into rivers and estuaries, either in dissolved or particulate form. They are persistent and potentially toxic,

tending to accumulate over time and possessing a long lasting effect after elimination of the major sources, holding depositional features, and being a threat to aquatic systems (Campos *et al.*, 2012, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2014; Nunes *et al.*, 2017; Silva *et al.*, 2015, 2016; Smith *et al.*, 2011; Verma & Jayakumar, 2012), bringing cumbersome consequences for aquatic biodiversity and water quality (Bodí *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, aquatic communities (*e.g.* fishes, macro-invertebrates, periphyton, phytoplankton and amphibians) may suffer injurious effects, due to accumulation of ash or some of its components in aquatic deposits (Bodí *et al.*, 2014), even one year after the fire event (Silva *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, post-fire inputs of particles can also contribute to water degradation (alter color, taste, odor), increment of the quantity of nutrients beyond the recommended limits, decreasing life-span of reservoirs and deterioration of water treatment processes (Bladon *et al.*, 2014). As a consequence, it leads to problems in potable water supplies (Bodí *et al.*, 2014), thus causing possible costs for water managers (Abrantes *et al.*, 2017).

The different geochemical forms of the various elements possess the ability to change when ash is transferred from the production site into anoxic/suboxic sediments in rivers and reservoirs (Santín *et al.*, 2015). It's important to underline that the water-sediment interaction plays a crucial part on regulating metals' transport processes (Thouzeau *et al.*, 2007). Regarding the PAHs in surface water, and depending on their physiochemical properties, they are able to oxidize, volatilize, photodegrade, bind to particulates, and in the river sediments PAHs can be biodegraded or accumulated in the aquatic organisms (Abdel-Shafy & Mansour, 2015). PAHs have high affinity for organic carbon and low solubility, which allows them in aquatic systems, to be found sorbed to particles instead of suspended in the water column or settled in the bottom (Abrantes *et al.*, 2017).

Regarding the potential toxicity of ash loaded runoff, Campos *et al.* (2012) and Silva *et al.* (2015) pointed-out that compounds mobilized or released by wildfires caused toxicity to standard aquatic organisms, like the macrophyte *Lemna minor* and the microalgae *Raphidocelis subcapitata* decreasing their growth, and the bioluminescent bacterium *Vibrio fischeri*, causing inhibitions in the luminescence of the bacteria (Abrantes *et al.*, 2017). Nunes *et al.* (2017) using a biomarker-based approach, found early-warning signals in the fish *Gambusia holbrooki* due to toxicity triggered by aqueous runoff and stream water samples collected from a forest Burnt area (Abrantes *et al.*, 2017). Hence, these studies point out that the production and mobilization of toxic chemicals by wildfires are harmful to aquatic species.

- 3 -

Besides the toxic effects, some studies have already focused on the consequences of wildfires on freshwater communities, including macroinvertebrates (Earl & Blinn, 2003; Mellon, Wipfli, & Li, 2008; Minshall, 2003; Silva *et al.*, 2016; Verkaik *et al.*, 2013), periphyton (Cowell, Matthews, & Lind, 2006; Earl & Blinn, 2003; Verkaik *et al.*, 2013) and fish (Rinne & Neary, 1996; Verkaik, *et al.*, 2013). They all testified shifts in communities' composition and reductions on abundance after-fire, although, after a certain time, communities returned to pre - fire conditions. Some of the changes suffered by the ecosystems occur during burning, like the alteration of the quality and quantity of organic matter content. It can vary from its nearly destruction to increased contents, mostly due to external inputs that includes forest necromass, partly charred litter and leaves, as well as residual ash (Certini, 2005; González-Pérez *et al.*, 2004; Knicker *et al.*, 2005; Mataix-Solera *et al.*, 2011). When that ash reaches the surface of a river, not only micronutrients are injected into the water but also macronutrients that have the ability to cause an increase in phytoplankton, especially in nutrient-limited areas (Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

Photoautotrophic organisms, such as macrophytes, and microalgae are essential to aquatic systems, being producers and the basis of the entire food chain (da Silva *et al.*, 2009; Luís *et al.*, 2011). Among distinct algae groups, diatoms play a crucial role in aquatic systems. They are eukaryotic, unicellular or colonial algae, that can be divided morphologically into centric or pennate showing radial or bilateral symmetry of the siliceous frustule ornamentation, respectively (Round *et al.* 1990). The cell wall of diatoms, the siliceous frustule, is the basis for the morphological identification due to its intricately and diversified ornamentation. Diatoms are geographically and ecologically very widely distributed and its estimated that there are about 100000 taxa (Mann & Vanormelingen, 2013; Ross & Mann, 1986), which makes it possible to be found in almost every ecosystem on the planet where nutrients and light exist in satisfactory quantities (Round *et al.*, 1990; Vieira, 2014). The production and storage of lipids and carbohydrates by microalgae is controlled by the availability of nutrients such as phosphorus (P), silica (Si) and nitrogen (N) (Vieira, 2014).

Freshwater diatoms are widely used as indicators of water quality, including the evaluation of trophic status and organic pollution (van Dam *et al.*, 1994; da Silva *et al.*, 2009; Feio *et al.*, 2009; Luís *et al.*, 2011; Um *et al.*, 2018), due to their clear response to variations in nutrient levels (Vilmi & Karjalainen, 2015) and organic content (van Dam *et al.* 1994) at the species level. Additionally, diatom assemblages are very diverse, with

different environmental preferences and tolerances, a quick response to chemical alterations of the adjacent medium, and short life cycles, being among the biological quality elements specified in the European Water Framework Directive for management of water resources (van Dam *et al.*, 1994; da Silva *et al.*, 2009; Feio *et al.*, 2009; Luís *et al.*, 2011; Mu *et al.*, 2018). They belong to one of the biggest groups of silicified organisms that possess a siliceous frustule. Thus, Si is a core macronutrient for their growth (Jiang *et al.*, 2014<sup>a</sup>, 2014<sup>b</sup>).

Intraspecific variation allows each one to adapt to changes in the environment and even under the same conditions, microalgae demonstrate differences at biochemical and physiological levels (Blomberg & Garland, 2002; Esteves *et al.*, 2018; Keck *et al.*, 2016). It is also known that phenotypic characters have the ability to evolve in an independent way from the genotypic ones, which results in sensitivity differences not measurable at the genetic level (Esteves *et al.*, 2018). Diatoms occur, not only in the water column as planktonic organisms, but may also develop extensive benthic communities as they are capable of attaching to all types of substrates, responding in a faster way to environmental alterations than higher level organisms (van Dam *et al.*, 1994).

Trace elements can accumulate in aquatic organisms by means of uptake from suspended particles and sediment, directly from water, or by the consumption of lower trophic level organisms (Wang, 1987). In addition environmental concentrations tend to result in more sub-lethal responses. Thus, assessing the degree of stress that populations are laid on could help enhance the monitoring process, as well as ecological management (Esteves et al., 2018). Diatoms can develop teratologies of the siliceous cell wall with alterations in the shape and ornamentation. These teratologies are sub-lethal responses to environmental stressors, but studies haven't been successful in demonstrating a relationship between the gradient of exposure and the proportion of teratologies, only being able to compare contaminated sites with non-contaminated. Observed deformities may occur in the striation pattern, the raphe/sternum, the general shape of the valve and other structures, or can be a combination of diverse modifications. The frequency of teratologies has been reported as a good biomarker for metal and organic contamination, since different contaminants have different toxic modes of action. It should be taken into account that the tolerance to teratologies is environment and species - dependent, making optimal conditions mitigate their occurrence and suboptimal conditions worsen (Falasco et al., 2009; Lavoie et al., 2017).

It should also be taken into consideration that microalgae in their natural habitat will experience environmental oscillations, from variations on sunlight supply (throughout the day as well as dissimilarities on cloud cover) to undulations on temperature (daily and in seasonal cycles) (Jiang *et al.*, 2014<sup>b</sup>), and that diatoms respond to chemical, hydromorphologic and physical changes in the environment (Elias *et al.*, 2015). Prior studies also demonstrate that growth and photosynthetic rates of phytoplankton have a tendency to increase succeeding nutrient addition or ash enrichment, although the responses may change among different species (Zhang *et al.*, 2017).

Understanding the impacts of wildfires is indispensable for risk assessment of environmental contamination, ecosystem management and sustainability, and different biological components must be considered in order to evaluate the status of the affected habitats (Abrantes *et al.*, 2017; Campos *et al.*, 2016; Nunes *et al.*, 2017; Silva *et al.*, 2015).

Despite the attempts to establish cause-effect relationships, the consequences of wildfires along the aquatic food chain are still being ignored. In particular, the study of the effects of contaminated sediments from Burnt areas in benthic organisms exposed for long periods, as diatoms, assumes high relevance, as these will impact the entire ecosystem throughout bottom-up relationships. Hence, this work aimed to study the impact of post-fire contamination in freshwater diatoms, either in terms of community composition or specific toxicity. To address this main goal, two specific objectives were defined: (i) study the effects of wildfires on diatom community structure and (ii) assess in the laboratory the response of two diatom species with distinct tolerances (*Nitzschia palea* (Kützing) W. Smith and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (Kützing) Czarnecki) to aqueous extracts of ashes collected from low to moderate and high severity wildfires affecting eucalyptus forests.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1. Study area

The study area was located near the Nespereira de Cima village, Oliveira de Azeméis municipality, Aveiro district, north-central Portugal (Figure 1). At catchment scale, the study took place in River Pequeno (Figure 2), considered a Northern river of small drainage area (N1 < 100 km<sup>2</sup>) concerning its national typology (INAG, IP, 2008). At River Pequeno, 3 study sites were defined for the collection of water, sediments and phytobenthos: upstream (Up - 40°47'16.3"N 8°25'38.0"W), within (Burnt - 40°46'50.4"N 8°26'06.2"W) and downstream (Down - 40°46'03.2"N 8°26'39.8"W) the Burnt area (Figure 2). A low/moderate severity fire affected the area on October 3<sup>rd</sup> 2018, and a second one of high severity on March 27<sup>th</sup> 2019. The wildfires consumed an area of around 66.394 ha and 320.39 ha, respectively, predominantly covered by eucalyptus (Figure 2). The mean annual temperature varies within 10 to 20 °C. The area is characterized by a temperate climate, with wet winters and dry mild summers (IPMA, 2019). Over the past 20 years, the annual rainfall ranged from 2896.7 mm to 1204.76 mm (SNIRH, 2019).



Figure 1 – Geographical localization of the study area Nespereira de Cima village.



Figure 2 - Catchment, sampling points in River Pequeno and wildfires' area.

Fire severity was assessed according to the methodology described in Shakesby and Doerr (2006) and Keeley (2009). Hence, fire severity assessment was based on the degree of consumption of the canopies of 10 randomly selected trees as well as of the litter layer (partial vs. total) and on ash color (black vs. grey), which was classified by visual inspection. In the first event, the fire consumed the tree canopies only partially but the litter layer entirely and produced black ashes. In the second fire, it totally consumed both the tree canopies and the litter layer, and produced grey ashes. On the basis of these observations, fire severity was classified as low to moderate in the first fire and high severity in the second one.

#### 2.2. Sampling Design

#### 2.2.1. Ash

One Burnt eucalyptus slope was selected in the catchment area for each ash sampling campaign (one after the first fire and another after the second fire event). On each slope, one transect was laid out across the full length of the slope section. Five equidistant points were established from the top to the bottom of each slope to take into account ash spatial heterogeneity. At each of the five points of sampling transect, a grid was laid out and a plot of 50 x 60 cm was sampled for ash. At each sampling plot the entire ash layer was collected with a brush and a spoon, in order to avoid mixture with soil, and after that, the ash samples were sieved separately through a 2 mm mesh and

transported to the laboratory in plastic bags, under dark conditions. In the laboratory, the sieved ash samples were air-dried and then mixed in a container to produce a single composite sample which was subsequently stored at - 20°C in dark plastic bags (to reduce microbial activity and to prevent photolysis of the PAHs) until the preparation of the aqueous extracts (Campos *et al.*, 2015, 2016).

#### 2.2.2. Water and Sediments

Sampling of water and sediments in River Pequeno took place after the two fire events previously referred in each sampling site (upstream, Burnt and downstream the Burnt area). The first sampling occurred on the 15<sup>th</sup> November, 2018 (registered as 1) and the second on the 5<sup>th</sup> June, 2019 (registered as 2). The first sampling moment occurred after heavy rainfall, which could enable runoff into the water stream. At each sampling site and campaign, pH, electric conductivity (EC), dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (T°C) and total dissolved solids (TDS) of water were measured in the field using a multiparameter probe (Hanna Instruments, HI 9829), as well as the current velocity (FP111 Global Water Probe). At the same time two surface water samples were collected per site into polyethylene terephthalate bottle for metal and nutrient analysis and into amber glass bottle for PAHs and carbon analysis. Two sediment samples were also collected at each sampling site and campaign. Samples were transported to the laboratory in cool boxes. In the laboratory, water samples were preserved and filtered, accordingly to the different chemical determination and stored at - 20°C till further processing. Also the filters were stored at - 20°C prior to the analysis of their contents (metals, PAHs and carbon). Sediments were air-dried and sieved through a 2 mm mesh and ground. Samples were stored in a black plastic bag and aluminum bags at - 20°C until further analysis.

#### 2.2.3. Phytobenthos

After the two fire events, in the stream at the three established sampling sites, and avoiding shades and pools of stagnant water, epilithic samples were collected by scraping approximately 100 cm<sup>2</sup> of submerged stones with a toothbrush. These sampling processes followed the Water Framework Directive (WFD) protocol for *phytobenthos* (INAG, 2008; WFD, 2000). The samples were then divided in two: one of the sub-samples was preserved with formalin (ca. 8% final concentration), while the other was kept alive.

#### 2.2.3.1. Sample processing

- 9 -

From the live sub-sample, upon arrival at the laboratory, a small part was cleaned and oxidized using potassium dichromate (K<sub>2</sub>Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub>) and concentrated nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) for 24h at room temperature. After this period, oxidation by-products were removed by, three centrifugations (1500rpm) (Hettich, Universal 16A). Permanent slides were mounted using Naphrax® (INAG, 2008). In each sample, the diatoms were identified to the lowest taxonomic category possible using available identification literature (Krammer 2000, 2001, 2009; Krammer and LangeBertalot, 1986, 1988, 1991<sup>a</sup>, 1991<sup>b</sup>; Prygiel and Coste, 2000), and at least 400 valves were counted. Valve teratologies were also analyzed and counted (Annex I). The study of diatoms took place under the light microscope (Leitz Biomed 20 EB) equipped with a 100x objective with a numerical aperture of 1.32.

#### 2.4. Preparation of aqueous extracts of ash (AEA) and analytical procedures

The aqueous extracts of ash (AEA) embodies the contaminant matrix that reaches aquatic systems after a wildfire. Aqueous extracts of ash from the low/moderate and high severity wildfires, previously referred, were prepared for posterior chemical analysis and for toxicity testing using unialgal diatom cultures. The resulting ashes of the low/moderate severity fire event are of low severity (LS), and the ashes originated on the high severity wildfire are of high severity (HS).

Five grams of ashes were mixed in 1L of the culture medium used for the tested species in ecotoxicological assessments. These mixtures were then placed in flasks wrapped in aluminum foil, in order to be protected from light, and were subjected to a period of 8h stirring in an orbital shaker at 220rpm (SCANSI SK-O330-Pro), being stored at 4°C for a maximum period of 24h before its use in the ecotoxicological tests (Silva *et al.*, 2015).

It must be noted that the amount of ashes used to obtain the aqueous extracts of ashes (AEA) may have resulted in an ash concentration with larger proportions than that expected in natural runoff. On the account of the variability present in the environmental concentration, it is also extremely difficult to know the exact proportions of ash and solvent (in this case culture medium DVII) that should be used to make the AEA. For that reason, in this study several concentrations were tested in order to cover the approximate concentration present in the runoff.

### 2.4.1. Analytical procedures

2.4.1.1. Sediments samples

Approximately 500 mg of dry sediments (40°C) were digested with *aqua regia* (3 HCI:1 HNO<sub>3</sub>) in covered Teflon beakers. The mixture was heated on a DigiPrep HotBlock at 95°C - 100°C until dryness. After this, 10ml of HNO<sub>3</sub> (4M) were added to the Teflon vessels and the solution was filtered through 0.45µm Whatman<sup>®</sup> Nucleopore<sup>TM</sup> filters to remove all ash particles and transferred into polypropylene volumetric tubes. After cooling, the solution was diluted to 50ml with Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> water (USEPA 3050B, 1996). Concentration of metals: vanadium (V), chromium (Cr), manganese (Mn), cobalt (Co), nickel (Ni), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd) and lead (Pb) were determined by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS - Thermo Elemental, X-Series). Quality control of the analytical procedures was ensured by the analysis of Certified Reference Material (CRM) and by testing every 10<sup>th</sup> sample in duplicate. Blanks were prepared following the same analytical procedure and run in parallel with the CRM and samples.

The analysis of the PAH contents of sediments were restricted to the 16 priority PAHs defined by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA, 1995): acenaphthylene (ACY), acenaphthene (ACE), fluorene (FLU), phenanthrene (PHE), anthracene (ANT), fluoranthene (FLT), pyrene (PYR), benzo(a)anthracene (BaA), benzo(b)fluoranthene (BbF), chrysene (CHR), benzo(k)fluoranthene (BkF), benzo(a)pyrene (BaP), dibenzo(a,h)anthracene (DBA), indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene (IND) and benzo(g,h,i)perylene (BGP). The PAH contents of the ash samples were analyzed following the procedure described in Martins et al. (2012). Prior to the actual analysis, however, the unfrozen samples were dried at 40°C to minimize the loss of the volatile PAHs (Berset et al., 1999). Pressurized liquid extraction (PLE) was performed using an ASE (Accelerated Solvent Extraction) 200 system (Dionex, USA) equipped with 24 stainless steel extraction cells. The extraction cells were lined with cellulose filter paper, packed (from bottom to top) with 5g of sample mixed with diatomaceous earth, spiked with 1ml surrogate standards obtained from Supelco (Bellefonte, PA, USA) containing acenaphthene-d<sup>10</sup> (0.408µg ml<sup>-1</sup>), phenanthrene- d<sup>10</sup> (0.397µg ml<sup>-1</sup>), chrysene-d<sup>12</sup>  $(0.397\mu g ml^{-1})$  and perylene-d12  $(0.433\mu g ml^{-1})$  and topped with cellulose filter paper. Extractions were performed with a mixture of hexane:acetone (1:1, v:v) at 100°C and 1500psi for 5 min, followed by a static extraction step, with one cycle (5 min) and a flush volume of 60% of the extraction cell volume. Organic extracts were then concentrated by a rotator evaporator rinsed with hexane. The extracts were evaporated under a gentle stream of N2 to 2ml and fractionated with silica: alumina (1:1) and sodium sulphate glass column. The first fraction, corresponding to aliphatic hydrocarbons, was eluted with 20ml of n-hexane and not analyzed. The second fraction, containing the PAHs compounds, was

eluted with 30ml of a hexane of n-hexane/dichloromethane (9:1, v:v) and 40ml n-hexane/ dichloromethane (4:1, v:v), evaporated by a rotator evaporator and then concentrated to 0.5ml under a gentle stream of N2 for prior analysis. With each set of samples to be analyzed, a solvent blank, a standard mixture and a procedural blank were run in sequence to check for contamination, peak identification and quantification. Analyses of PAHs were performed on a gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS).

#### 2.4.1.2 AEA and Water samples

Water and AEA samples were filtered through 0.45µm Whatman<sup>®</sup> Nucleopore<sup>TM</sup> filters for the metals' contents. The suspended particulate matter retained in the filter (dried at 40°C) was totally digested with an acid mixture (*aqua regia* and HF) following the procedure described by Caetano *et al.* (2007). After the acid digestion phase metals were analyzed by ICP - MS, as described before. The aqueous filtered samples, which correspond to the dissolved metal fraction, were preserved with double - distilled NHO<sub>3</sub> to pH < 2 and were analyzed directly by ICP-MS, as previously described. Quality control of the analytical procedures was ensured by the analysis of Certified Reference Material (CRM) and by testing every 10<sup>th</sup> sample in duplicate. Blanks were prepared following the same analytical procedure and run in parallel with the CRM and samples. Total concentrations for each individual metal represent the sum of the dissolved and particulate phase.

The AEA and water samples for the determination of PAHs were filtered (1000ml) using Whatman<sup>®</sup> microfiber filters GF/F (0.7µm) to analyze the dissolved and particulate phase. The particulate PAHs levels were analyzed using the same procedure as described for the ash samples. The dissolved PAHs levels of the filtered samples were analyzed using solid phase extraction (SPE) which was conducted in an SPE vacuum sixport SPE manifold using Bakerbond speedisk H<sub>2</sub>O-Phobic DV B extraction disk from J. T. Baker (Avantor Performance Materials, USA), according to the established procedures (Munch *et al.*, 2012). The PAHs extracts were analyzed by using a gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC–MS) system (Thermo® DSQ) following the conditions described by Martins *et al.* (2008). Total PAHs concentrations represent the sum of the dissolved and the particulate PAHs for each sample.

The AEA and water samples were also analyzed with respect to total nitrogen (TN), nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub>-N), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-N), phosphate (PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup>) and total, organic and inorganic carbon. For the TN the samples were subjected to an oxidative digestion followed by quantification by molecular absorption spectrometry (MAS) (APHA, method 4500-N C, 2017). As for the

nitrite and nitrate contents, the samples were analyzed using the chromotropic acid method (West & Lyles, 1960) and N-(1-Naphthyl)-ethylendiamine method (ISO15923-1, 2013), respectively. The concentration of ammonium and phosphate was determined by the phenate method (APHA, method 4500-NH3 F, 2017) and by the ascorbic acid method (ISO15923-1, 2013). The carbon contents in both matrices were determined based on the high-temperature combustion method (APHA, method 5310 B, 2017) and by first filtering the samples through 0.7 $\mu$ m Whatman<sup>®</sup> microfiber filters GF/F. The filtrate (dissolved fraction) and filters (particulate fraction) were measured directly using the total organic carbon analyzer (multi N/C<sup>®</sup> 3100 and the accessory TOC solid module HT 1300, respectively).

#### 2.5. Diatom culture conditions

This study was performed with two freshwater diatom species, quite frequent in rivers and streams, *Nitzschia palea* (Kützing) W. Smith (NPAL) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (Kützing) Czarnecki (ADMI) that show different ecological profiles concerning nutrients and organic matter. NPAL is more tolerant to alterations in the surrounding environment (Esteves *et al.*, 2017). To select the best culture conditions for diatom growth the two diatom species were grown in two culture media Chu10 (Annex II) and DVII (Annex III) – (Isabelle, 2011; Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962), and subjected to two photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h) in culture chambers (SANYO, Versatile Environmental Test Chamber) at 20° ± 2°C temperature and with a light intensity of about 72.973  $\mu$ E·m<sup>-2</sup>·s<sup>-1</sup> (TES-1332 – Luxmeter).

#### 2.6. Growth curves

Growth curves were determined for both species in both media and photoperiods previously reported, which resulted in the decision of using DVII medium, with 16:8h photoperiod in toxicity tests. For each species and set of tested conditions, three Erlenmeyer flasks were homogenized in an ultrasonic bath for about 30s (Bandelin, Sonorex Super, RK 102 H), and 1mL counting chambers were filled, with 1mL sample preserved with a few drops of Lugol solution and allowed to settle before counting about 200 cells. Lugol solution increases the weight of the cells and therefore, promotes sedimentation, besides killing (immobilizing) the diatoms for easier cell counting (Esteves *et al.*, 2018). Cell growth was estimated by daily cell counting using 1mL counting chambers under the inverted light microscope (Leitz Labovert SF). The growth rate (GR, day<sup>-1</sup>) was then calculated according to equation 1:

$$GR = (lnxf - lnxi)/t$$
 (Equation 1)

where (ln xf) is the natural logarithm of cell density at the end of the assay, (ln xi) is the natural logarithm of cell density at the beginning of the assay and (t) is the duration period of the assay in days. Daily cell counting was interrupted when the decline/death phase of the growth curve was attained for each diatom species.

#### 2.7. Ecotoxicological tests

In order to assess the effects of AEA on the growth rates of NPAL and ADMI, ecotoxicological assays were performed following the OECD 2011 guideline (OECD, 2011). An initial inoculum in exponential growth phase of approximately 10<sup>4</sup> cells mL<sup>-1</sup> were exposed to AEA in 100mL Erlenmeyer flasks, with 50mL final volume. The Erlenmeyers were corked to minimize accidental contamination and evaporation, but still allowing air exchange. For a period of 96h, each species was exposed to different AEA concentrations: 0 (control solution, only composed by DVII culture medium), 12.5, 25, 50, 75 and 100% (only composed by AEA), with three replicates being established for every concentration (Table 1). The tests took place at 20° ± 2°C, with a 16:8 h photoperiod and with a light intensity of 72.973 µE·m<sup>-2</sup>·s<sup>-1</sup> (TES-1332 - Luxmeter). Every Erlenmeyer was manually stirred once a day until the deposit disappeared, to avoid cell agglutination and to promote active gas exchange (Silva et al., 2015). Only the ecotoxicological tests performed in Nitzschia palea fulfilled the respective validity requirements (OECD, 2011). According to OECD (2011), the test is only valid if the biomass in the control cultures increases exponentially by a factor of at least 16 within a 72 - hour test period, which was not observed in any test on Achnanthidium minutissimum (control values on a 96h - test period: 33112.5, 30252.1, 23769.5 cells mL<sup>-1</sup>). Regardless of this outcome, the tests were conducted in order to evaluate different responses between groups. For greater truthfulness and credibility of results, the experience should be replicated using controls to ensure research principles.

Table 1 – Final concentrations of DVII medium and AEA per concentration tested (mL).

	Control	12.50%	25%	50%	75%	100%
Medium	50	43.75	37.5	25	12.5	0
AEA	0	6.25	12.5	25	37.5	50

After the exposure period, cell density was determined by direct counting 400 cells under the inverted light microscope (Leitz Labovert SF) and the growth rate was calculated according to equation 1, previously referred in 2.6, to determine the influence of AEA on diatom growth.

#### 2.8. Diatom valve teratologies

In order to study the effects of AEA on diatom cell wall (siliceous frustule, composed of two valves) morphology, permanent slides of a random replica per AEA concentration were mounted as referred in 2.3. Three countings of 100 valves in each slide were made and types and number of teratologies were registered. Deformed valves were photographed under the light microscope Zeiss Axioplan 2 Imaging (100x objective and 1.40 numerical aperture) equipped with an Olympus DP70 digital camera.

#### 2.9. Data analyses

#### 2.9.1. Diatom communities' structure

The statistical analyses of the diatom communities were performed using the software Primer 6 (Primer – E Ltd, Plymouth, UK). A multidimensional scaling analysis (MDS) was made, based on a Bray-Curtis similarity test (data transformed by double square root; Primer 6). The diatom communities in the sampling locations were compared by means of a distance–based permutational multivariate analysis of variance, PERMANOVA test. Furthermore, in order to determine the most representative taxa (those contributing the most to the similarity within groups) of the statistically different groups, a SIMPER analysis (double square route, Bray–Curtis similarity; Primer 6) was performed.

Diatom indices are designed to compile all the information given by the autoecological preferences of the diatom community. The IPS (Indice de Polluosensibilité Spécifique) index was calculated for each sampling site, to evaluate the ashes effect on the ecological status of water. Computation of this index was done with OMNIDIA software (version 5.2) (Lecointe *et al.*, 1993). The ecological status class assessment of the sampled locations, was made resourcing the Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR). The EQR values, which express the ratio of the observed IPS value to the reference IPS value for the type of water bodies in study (EQR = observed IPS / reference IPS), were determined based on an IPS reference value of 19, due to the fact that the river in study is in northern Portugal with a catchment area <100 km<sup>2</sup> (INAG, 2009).

#### 2.9.2. Ecotoxicological test

Statistical analyses of the ecotoxicological tests were made featuring the software IBM SPSS statistics 24. The verification of the normality and variance was performed by means of a Shapiro–Wilk test and an Equal Variance test. One–way analysis of variance was used to test statistically significant differences between AEA concentrations. A Dunnett's test was then performed in order to highlight the statistically significant differences with the controls. Differences were considered significant at a p < 0.05. EC<sub>x</sub> values and corresponding 95% confidence levels were determined by means of a nonlinear regression analysis, using a logistic equation fitted to the data through the least squares method.

The statistical analyses of the teratologies' percentage occurring during the ecotoxicological tests were made on Primer 6 (Primer – E Ltd, Plymouth, UK). Bray-Curtis similarity test and PERMANOVAS were made, followed by Pair Wise Tests in order to compare the percentage of teratologies present in the different concentrations.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Environmental Parameters

#### 3.1.1 Stream Sediments

In an overall view, metals' concentration in the stream sediments were similar between the sampling campaigns, with cadmium (Cd) always below quantification limit, and manganese (Mn) and zinc (Zn) showing the highest concentrations (Table 2).

All the 16 PAHs analyzed were below the quantification limit (0.05 mg kg  $^{-1}$ ).

Total carbon (TC) was higher in the sampling site affected by the wildfire (Burnt), in both sampling moments (Table 3).

Campaign date	Sample	V	Cr	Mn	Co	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Pb
15/nov/18	Up	33	26	239	8	26	22	111	40	< 0.2	17
	Burnt	33	26	240	8	24	21	107	40	< 0.2	16
	Down	33	25	263	9	26	22	110	43	< 0.2	16
05/jun/19	Up	33	27	206	7	24	22	114	39	< 0.2	18
	Burnt	31	25	232	7	22	19	111	31	< 0.2	16
	Down	32	25	191	9	26	22	103	32	< 0.2	16

Table 2 - Metal concentrations in stream sediments (mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) on both campaigns.

Campaign date	Sample	тс
	Up	2.9
15/nov/18	Burnt	7.5
	Down	5.5
	Up	2.8
05/jun/19	Burnt	8.2
	Down	4.6

Table 3 - Total carbon (TC) present in stream sediments (g kg-1) in both campaigns.

#### 3.1.2 Stream water

With the measurements made on the field it was possible to verify a minimum general decrease on the dissolved oxygen from the first campaign (15/nov/18) to the second (5/jun/19), while a small increment on the temperature, electric conductivity, total dissolved solids and current velocity occurred. The pH was found on the range of 6.53 and 7.34, being always in the neutral interval (Table 4).

Table 4 - Temperature (T<sup>o</sup>C), pH, electric conductivity (EC), total dissolved solids (TDS), dissolved oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>) and current velocity measured on the field on both campaigns.

_	Oomu olana data	. <b>т</b> о		1 /	EC	TDS	<b>O</b> <sub>2</sub>		N
	Campaign date	9 I °	Срг	1 (µ:	5 cm 2)	(mg l⁻¹)	% mg L <sup>-1</sup>		Vcurrent
		LIn	14.3	6.66	50	24	111	11.1	10 12
		Οp	14.3	6.53	51	24	108	10.8	40-42
	15/201/19	Burnt	14.1	6.68	51	25	111	11.3	20.54
15/100/18	Burnt	14.1	6.69	50	25	106	10.9	30-34	
		Douro	13.6	6.67	48	25	110	11.3	23-26
		Down	13.6	6.71	54	35	118	11.1	
		Llo	14.9	7.12	88	43	91	10.9	20-30
		Up	14.9	6.93	85	60	88	9.9	
	5/iup/10	Durnt	14.7	7.34	71	42	89	9.1	20.60
5/Jun/ 19 -	Burnt	14.6	7.32	87	51	85	8.8	30-60	
	-	Davia	15.1	7.15	60	32	87	9.7	20.00
		Down	15.1	7.22	71	41	84	9.0	30-90

Contrary to stream sediment samples, in water samples, metals were less noticed and those detected were present at lower concentrations. Vanadium and Cu remained relatively stable through the different samples and campaigns. On the other hand, Mn and As showed higher concentration at the Burnt and Down sites of both campaigns. Cobalt, Ni, Zn, Cd and Pb were below the limit of quantification. Likewise, Cr in the Down site in november and in the Burnt site in june was also below the limit of quantification (Table 5).

	Campaign date	Sample	v	Cr	Mn	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Pb
15/nov/18		Up	2.2	1.3	23	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.8	< 5.00	0.48	< 0.20	< 0.50
	15/nov/18	Burnt	2.0	1.5	27	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.7	< 5.00	0.68	< 0.20	< 0.50
		Down	2.0	< 0.50	32	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.4	< 5.00	0.88	< 0.20	< 0.50
05/jun/19		Up	2.0	1.2	15	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.2	< 5.00	0.38	< 0.20	< 0.50
	05/jun/19	Burnt	2.2	< 0.50	30	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.6	< 5.00	0.69	< 0.20	< 0.50
		Down	2.1	1.3	28	< 0.20	< 2.00	2.2	< 5.00	0.55	< 0.20	< 0.50

Table 5 - Metal concentrations in stream water samples ( $\mu g L^{-1}$ ) collected in both campaigns.

PAHs were all below the limit of quantification, except NAP in the second campaign, FLU and ANT in the first campaign, and PHE in both campaigns, all in the Down sampling site (Table 6).

Table 6 – Quantification of detected PAHs in the stream water samples (µg L<sup>-1</sup>) collected in both campaigns.

РАН			15/nov/18		5/jun/19			
		Up	Burnt	Down	Up	Burnt	Down	
Naphtalene	NAP	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01	
Fluorene	FLU	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.03	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	
Phenanthrene	PHE	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.05	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01	
Anthracene	ANT	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.06	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01	

Relatively to nutrients, the water samples from the first campaign were similar considering inorganic carbon (IC) and total particulate carbon (TCp). Nitrates and nitrites

were above limit of quantification only in Down and Burnt sampling sites of the second campaign. Likewise, TCp showed the highest concentration in the second sampling moment, particularly in the Burnt and Down sites. In relation to total nitrogen, total organic carbon (TOC) and total dissolved carbon (TCd), a oscillation between sampling sites was observed, especially in the first campaign (Table 7).

Table 7 - Quantification of nutrients in stream water samples collected in both campaigns. Total Organic Carbon (TOC), Inorganic Carbon (IC), Total dissolved Carbon (TCd) and Total particulate Carbon (TCp).

Campaign date	Sample	Total Nitrogen (mg N I <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	Nitrate (mg NO₃ <sup>-</sup> -N I⁻¹)	Nitrite (mg NO₂ <sup>-</sup> -N I⁻¹)	Phosphate (mg PO₄³- I⁻¹)	TOC (mg C l <sup>-1</sup> )	IC (mg C I <sup>-1</sup> )	TCd (mg C l <sup>-1</sup> )	TCp (mg C l <sup>-1</sup> )
	Up	15.3	< 1	<0.01	0.76	2.2	1.1	3.2	7
15/nov/18	Burnt	< 0.5	< 1	<0.01	0.20	5.6	1.3	6.9	7
	Down	1.1	< 1	<0.01	0.61	7.2	1.7	8.9	7
	Up	20.4	< 1	<0.01	0.47	6	1.9	8.1	14
5/jun/19	Burnt	8.4	2.9	0.03	0.41	11	2.2	13	28
	Down	10.7	3.4	0.01	0.42	6.6	2.1	8.7	29

#### 3.1.3 Aqueous Extracts of Ash (AEA)

The pH values measured in both AEA were within the acceptable range values for diatom growth, with 7.63 for the low severity AEA and 7.94 for the high severity AEA.

The metal concentrations on both AEA are similar, with exception of Mn, Co, Cu, Zn and As. Mn, Cu and Zn can be found in higher concentration on the low severity AEA, while Co and As on the high severity AEA (Table 8).

Table 8 - Metal concentrations in AEA ( $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) used in the ecotoxicological tests (low severity - LS and high severity – HS).

AEA	V	Cr	Mn	Со	Ni	Cu	Zn	As	Cd	Pb
LS	25	20	897	6.8	19	60	226	4.2	2.7	19
HS	27	22	728	11	18	51	180	13	2.7	18

Relatively to the presence of PAHs (Table 9), only Naphtalene (NAP) and Phenanthrene (PHE) were detected in both AEA. Acenaphthylene (ACE), Anthracene (ANT), Fluoranthene (FLT) and Pyrene (PYR) were only observed in high severity AEA.

РАН		LS	HS
Naphtalene	NAP	0.67	1.5
Acenaphthene	ACE	< 0.01	0.02
Phenanthrene	PHE	0.05	0.14
Anthracene	ANT	< 0.01	0.01
Fluoranthene	FLT	< 0.01	0.03
Pyrene	PYR	< 0.01	0.01

Table 9 – Quantification of detected PAHs in the AEA (µg L<sup>-1</sup>) used in the ecotoxicological tests (low severity - LS and high severity - HS).

According to Table 10, the low severity AEA possesses a higher concentration of nitrates and carbon in all forms, while the high severity AEA showed a higher concentration of total nitrogen and phosphate.

Table 10 - Quantification of nutrients in AEA used in the ecotoxicological tests (low severity - LS and high severity - HS). Total Organic Carbon (TOC), Inorganic Carbon (IC), Total dissolved Carbon (TCd) and Total particulate Carbon (TCp).

AEA	Total Nitrogen (mg N I <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	Nitrate (mg NO₃ <sup>-</sup> -N I <sup>-1</sup> )	Nitrite (mg NO <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup> - N I <sup>-1</sup> )	Phosphate (mg PO₄³- I⁻¹)	TOC (mg C I <sup>-1</sup> )	IC (dissolved) (mg C I <sup>-1</sup> )	TCd (mg C I <sup>-1</sup> )	TCp (mg C l <sup>-1</sup> )
LS	51	11.5	< 0.01	51.2	22	6.8	29	55
HS	57	8.5	< 0.01	65.4	13	5.9	19	39

#### 3.2. Analysis of diatom communities

According to the MDS 2D plot, there is a clear separation between the first (autumn) and second (spring) sampling events shown by the diatom community structure (Figure 3). The PERMANOVA global test further demonstrated that these differences are

statistically significant (t = 1.9887, P(MC) = 0.038), which shows that the structure of diatom communities changed considerably between the two sampling moments. During each season the three sites appear separated in Figure 3, which means that the diatom communities are different between sites.



Figure 3 - Multidimensional scaling analysis ordination of diatoms of the first sampling moment -15/nov/18 (1) and the second -5/jun/19 (2).

SIMPER analysis revealed a similarity of 57.19% within samples collected in autumn, and a similarity of 62.87% within samples collected in spring. *Karayevia oblongella* (Østrup) Aboal (KOBG) contributed with about 10% to the dissimilarity between these two groups (58.03%), which was more abundant in autumn compared to sampling in spring (Table 11 and Annex IV). During the first sampling campaign (15/nov/18) KOBG showed higher percentage of abnormal valves and was the dominant taxon, in the Up and Burnt sampling locations (Table 11 and Table 112). In Downstream, *Navicula notha* J.H. Wallace dominated and ADMI demonstrated more teratological valves (Table 11 and Table 12). In the spring it's possible to observe the dominance of ADMI in the Up and Down locations, while *Fragilaria rumpens* (Kützing) *G.W.F.Carlson* dominates Burnt (Table 11).

Specie			15/nov/	18	5/jun/1	5/jun/19	
-		Up	Burnt	Down	Up	Burnt	Down
Achnanthidium minutissimum (Kützing) Czarnecki	ADMI	58	48	97	191	84	78
<i>Karayevia oblongella</i> (Østrup) Aboal	KOBG	278	321	40	57	44	76
<i>Karayevia oblongella</i> (Østrup) Aboal anormale	KOTG	13	19	6	11	0	14
Navicula notha J.H. Wallace	NNOT	13	0	116	5	9	2
Fragilaria rumpens (Kützing) G.W.F.Carlson	FRUM	0	0	0	22	105	6

Table 11 – Number of valves of the dominant species in the three sampling sites of the autumn (15/nov/18) and spring campaigns (5/jun/19). Shaded cells represent the dominant taxa in each location.

The percentage of abnormal valves of *Karayevia oblongella* (KOTG) was also higher in autumn 2018 than in spring 2019 (Table 12). In autumn and site Up the percentage of abnormal valves (KOTG) was 5.6% of all *Karayevia oblongella* (KOBG) counted, while in the Burnt it was 13% and in the Down sampling site of 4.5% total KOBG. In the spring campaign on Up site KOTG had a percentage of 13% of all *Karayevia oblongella* counted, in the Burnt area of 16.2% and in the downstream location of 15.6%.

A few taxa which were only present in spring also contributed to the dissimilarity between the two sampling moments (e.g.: *Fragilaria rumpens* (FRUM), *Eolimna minima* (EOMI), *Fragilaria perminuta* (FPEM) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* abnormal form (ADMT)). Despite the presence of ADMI in autumn samples, abnormal valves were only counted on Down sampling point, with the higher percentage (Table 12). It represents 14% of the total counted taxa, and approximately 67% of all ADMI. In spring samples ADMT was counted on the three sampling sites, and of all *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) counted 15% showed abnormal morphology (teratologies) (ADMT) on the Up site, 4.5% on Burnt and 39.1% on the Down sampling site. *Frustulia saxonica* (FSAX) was only counted in autumn despite its observation in spring.

Table 12 - Percentage of counted valves of *Achnanthidium minutissimum* normal valves (ADMI) and teratological valves (ADMT) and of *Karayevia oblongella* normal valves (KOBG) and teratological valves (KOTG) in the two sampling moments considering the entire community (100%). (For the other counted taxa see Annex I).

Spacia		15/nov/18			5/jun/19	
Specie	Up	Burnt	Down	Up	Burnt	Down
ADMI	14.8	11.9	20.9	43.8	20.6	21.5
ADMT	0.0	0.0	14.0	7.8	1.0	13.8
KOBG	70.7	79.7	8.6	13.1	10.8	21.0
KOTG	3.3	4.7	1.3	2.5	0.0	3.9

The Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) values observed in the studied stream classified the water as good quality status ([0.73 - 0.97[) despite the differences (Table 13). There was no clear pattern in changes of water quality regardless of the sampling site (Burnt site, before and after the influence of the fire event) or between wildfire events.

Campaign date	Sample	EQR	Water quality class
	Up	0.83	Good
15/nov/18	Burnt	0.85	Good
	Down	0.86	Good
	Up	0.79	Good
5/jun/19	Burnt	0.85	Good
	Down	0.77	Good

Table 13 - EQR values of the different sampling locations and respective water quality class.

#### 3.3. Ecotoxicological Tests

#### 3.3.1. Growth curves

Growth curves were determined for *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) in two photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h) and in the culture mediums DVII (Figure 4) and Chu10 modified (Isabelle, 2011; Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962) (Figure 5). The composition of both media can be found in Annex II and Annex III.



Figure 4 - Growth curves for *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) in both photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h), in DVII culture medium.



Figure 5 - Growth curves for *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) in both photoperiods (light:dark - 12:12h and 16:8h), in Chu10 modified (Isabelle, 2011; Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962) culture medium.

The best growth for both species was attained with the DVII medium. The exponential growth phase was reached at day 6 (436009 cells ml<sup>-1</sup>) and day 3 (708378 cells ml<sup>-1</sup>) for *Achnanthidium minutissimum* and *Nitzschia palea* respectively (Figure 4).

#### 3.3.2. Inhibition test

The verification of the normality and variance displayed that every test showed statistically significant differences (Table 14). *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) tested with AEA of low severity demonstrated statistically significant differences in the concentrations of 12.5% and 25%, and in every concentration on AEA of high severity (Figure 6). On the other hand, only in the 100% concentration of AEA of low severity were revealed statistical significant differences for *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) while in the high severity the concentrations of 12.5% and 25% and 25% were the ones showing significant statistical differences (Figure 7).

Table 14 - One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) results for the growth rates of *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) and *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL), exposed to High Severity (HS) and Low Severity (LS) AEA.

Specie / AEA	p	df	F
ADMI HS	<0.001	5	120.513
ADMI LS	<0.001	5	20.020
NPAL HS	<0.001	5	11.231
NPAL LS	0.005	5	6.214

df — degrees of freedom; F — F statistic; p — p value (probability level for significant effects: p < 0.05).


Figure 6 - Growth rate of ADMI after 96h in different concentrations of AEA originated from ashes of low and high severity, with the respective standard deviation. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.005) between every concentration (low severity graph) and between the controls and remaining concentrations (high severity graph) are indicated with an asterisk (\*).



Figure 7 - Growth rate of NPAL after 96h in different concentration of AEA originated from ashes ashes of low and high severity, with the respective standard deviation. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.005) between every concentration (low severity graph) and between the controls and remaining concentrations (high severity graph) are indicated with an asterisk (\*).

The values of  $EC_{50}$  and  $EC_{10}$  were estimated and a toxic effect was only observed in the AEA from low severity (LS) ashes. NPAL had the higher values, being  $EC_{50}$  of 104.98% and the  $EC_{10}$  62.36%, while on ADMI were of 84.78% and 45.07%, respectively (Table 15). Table 15 -  $EC_{10}$  and  $EC_{50}$  values (% AEA concentration) and respective 95 %-confidence limits for growth rates of *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) and *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL), exposed to High Severity (HS) and Low Severity (LS) AEA for 96h. 'NT' stands for – no toxicity.

Specie / AEA	EC <sub>10</sub> (%)	EC <sub>50</sub> (%)
ADMI HS	NT	NT
ADMI LS	45.066 (-0.193 – 90.599)	84.778 (55.768 – 113.787)
NPAL HS	NT	NT
NPAL LS	62.359 (40.013 – 84.760)	104.977 (88.789 – 121.166)

# 3.3.3. Teratologies

The teratologies observed, present in Figure 8 and Figure 9 for ADMI and NPAL respectively, were: irregular valve outline/abnormal shape, such as the width of the central or longitudinal areas (Figure 8 – b, c, d, e, f, g, j, k, l, m, n, o, p, u and v; Figure 9 – d and o), kidney shape (Figure 8 – s, t, w, x, y and z; Figure 9 - f, g, h, i, j, k and l), changes in cell length (Figure 8 – g and u; Figure – d), and mixed deformities (Figure 8 – h, i, q and r; Figure 9 – c and e).



Figure 8 - Teratologies observed in ADMI during the ecotoxicological test with ashes of low severity. It can be observed: normal cells (a), different types and degrees of valve abnormal shape (b, c, d, e, f, g, h, i, j, k, l, m, n, o, p, q and r), and mixed deformities (h, i, q and r). Scale bar =  $10.0 \ \mu$ m.



Figure 9 - Teratologies observed in NPAL during the ecotoxicological test with ashes of low severity. It can be observed: normal cells (a, b and n), slight valve abnormality (c, d, e, m and o) and kidney shape (f, g, h, l, j, k, l and m). Scale bar =  $10.0 \mu$ m.

Teratologies were detected in both species as previously referred, so in order to check for statistically significant differences of percentages of teratologies between AEA concentrations a PERMANOVA analysis was performed (Table 16). The percentage of teratological valves in *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) on AEA of low severity is significantly lower in the 100% concentration comparing with the remaining ones (Figure 10). In *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) statistically significant differences were detected in the concentrations of 12.5% and 25%, while 12.5% was statistically different from 25, 75 and 100%; 25% was statistically different from 50 and 75%; and 50% was statistically different from 75 and 100% (Figure 11). On the other hand, in the high severity AEA, ADMI revealed statistically significant differences between the control and the concentrations of 12.5%, 25%, 50% and 75% (Figure 10), whereas NPAL presented significant differences with all the concentrations (Figure 11).

 Specie / AEA	p	df	Pseudo - F
 NPAL LS	0.001	4	18.505
ADMI LS	0.003	4	7.347
NPAL HS	0.001	5	48.327
ADMI HS	0.002	5	8.752

Table 16 – PERMANOVA main tests results for the teratologies percentage of *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) and *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI), exposed to Low Severity (LS) and High Severity (HS) AEA.

df — degrees of freedom; F — F statistic; p — p value (probability level for significant effects).



Figure 10 - Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) percentage of valve teratologies after 96h in different concentrations of low and high severity AEA, with standard deviation. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.005) between every concentration (low severity graph) and between the controls and remaining concentrations (high severity graph) are indicated with an asterisk (\*).



Figure 11 - *Nitzschia palea* (NPAL) percentage of valve teratologies after 96h in different concentrations of low and high severity AEA, with the respective standard deviation. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.005) between every concentration (low severity graph) and between the controls and remaining concentrations (high severity graph) are indicated with an asterisk (\*).

#### 4. Discussion

#### 4.1 Environmental parameters

In general, the stream sediments collected possessed similar concentrations of metals between sampling periods. Also, by comparing the sampling sites, no noticeable differences were found between locations. In what concerns the PAHs in the sediments, all of them were found below the limit of quantification, even in the sites with the influence of the wildfire (Burnt and Down). In opposite, the TC on the stream sediments was higher

in the Burnt sampling location in both sampling moments, followed by Down and finally by Up site.

Regarding the metal concentration in the stream water samples, just Mn and As suffered a rise from the Up site to the Down. Most PAHs were below or close to the limit of quantification. These results were contradictory to what was found by Olivella *et al.* (2006) that testified a higher presence of PAHs as a result of a wildfire. Total carbon in stream waters revealed a similar pattern as it was found in sediments, with higher values found in the sites potentially affected by the post-fire contamination. Total nitrogen and phosphate were always higher in the Up site compared with the Burnt and with the Down sampling locations.

Hence, based on the chemical results, the present study revealed that in both campaigns ashes hadn't reached the sampled stream. In fact, during the sampling just slight evidences of ash presence were found in sediments, and the stream water was transparent, with total dissolved solids ranging from 24 to 35 mg L<sup>-1</sup> on the first campaign and between 32 and 60 mg L<sup>-1</sup> on the second . According to Earl & Blinn (2003), the water quality in streams reacts immediately to the entry of ash following a wildfire. Nonetheless, if the sampling moments don't overlap the ash overland flow into the water system, the water chemistry may pass undetected, in particular with limited ash flow (Earl & Blinn, 2003), which was the case of the present study. In addition, metal concentrations are generally low in surface water, since they are adsorbed onto particles suspended in the water column and then accumulated in the sediments (Miao *et al.*, 2006).

Concerning the metal concentrations in the aqueous extracts of ashes (AEA), similar concentrations were found between the Low Severity (LS) and the High Severity (HS). With exception of Mn and As, that were found at higher concentration compared to sediment, all the other analyzed metals were at similar concentrations on both AEA and in sediment. It's extremely important to highlight that the medium used for the diatom culture could have influence in the presence of some chemicals on the aqueous extracts of ash. In this study no chemical analysis was performed on the culture medium used, but as shown in Annex III, a trace elements solution was added. It included Mn, Zn, V, Cd, Co, Cu, Ni and Cr, which could contribute to the concentrations observed. In addition, the medium also contains vitamins, phosphate and nitrates that could influence the nutrients' concentration. Thus, the alterations registered through the different AEA concentrations, could have been influenced by its dilution with DVII medium. Silva *et al.* (2015) studied the chemical composition of AEA, and when both matrices (ashes and AEA) are compared, it's evident that the recovery/remobilization of chemical elements from ashes into AEA

fluctuates within the different compounds, which results from the affinity of the chemical elements towards the available organic material (Koc) and water solubility. Consequently, elements with lower Koc and higher solubility may potentially occur in higher concentrations in aqueous extracts due to their particle size, chemical specification, mineralogy of the ash and the pH of the solution (Silva et al., 2015). In the present study, the high values of Mn, Zn and Cu in the AEA may have resulted from the ashes (GSI, 2012; Silva et al., 2015; Campos et al., 2016). In terms of PAHs in the AEA, Naphtalene (NAP) and Phenanthrene (PHE) showed the highest concentrations, particularly in the high severity AEA. The dominance of NAP was also reported by Silva et al. (2015) and Vila-Escalé et al. (2007). In these cases, as suggested by Manoli & Samara (1999), there is an inverse relationship of water solubility and molecular weight of PAH, since they have a hydrophobic nature and reduced solubility. With regard to nutrients, an increment in carbon (in all of its forms), total nitrogen, nitrate and phosphate was observed in both AEA as also seen by Belillas & Roda (1993), Beschta (1990), Schindler et al. (1980) and Tiedemann et al. (1978). Total nitrogen (TN) as well as total carbon (TC) were more significant in the AEA made with low severity ashes (LS), which indicates that a decrease of these two nutrients with fire severity occurs as confirmed by several other studies (Murphy et al., 2006; Khanna et al., 1994; Goforth et al., 2005; Pereira et al., 2012). The decay of TN with fire severity is proportional to the quantity of organic matter consumed by the fire, which is a good predictor of fire severity (DeBano & Conrad, 1978; Gray & Dighton, 2006; Murphy et al., 2006; Neary et al., 2005; Ponder et al., 2009; Qian et al., 2009). Nonetheless, carbon was also found in the high severity AEA, suggesting the entrapment of carbon in ashes of medium - high severity wildfires, as also observed by Bodi et al. (2011), Goforth et al. (2005) and Raison & McGarity (1980).

### 4.2 Diatom communities

Previous studies on metal polluted rivers have demonstrated that various diatoms possess different ways of responding to environmental degradation (e.g. Hellawell, 1978): at the individual level with alterations in frustule morphology (eg. Falasco *et al.*, 2009; Pandey & Bergey, 2016; Pandey *et al.*, 2014), as showed in the present study; at a community compositional level, changing the diversity patterns as well as dominant taxa, as seen in 4.2 and in Annex I (Falasco *et al.*, 2009; Shi *et al.*, 2015); a reduction in biomass, and alterations in the community structure (Falasco *et al.*, 2009).

Several studies have already stated that environmental conditions can alter the valve morphology of diatoms (Cox, 1995; Geissler, 1970<sup>a</sup>, 1970<sup>b</sup>, 1982, 1986; Jahn, 1986; McBride & Edgar, 1998; Schultz, 1971; Schmid, 1976; Wendker & Geissler, 1988), but the mechanisms that can induce them are not well understood. Its hypothesized that cellular processes engaged in wall formation and cell division suffer variations on account of chemical or physical stressors (Lavoie *et al.*, 2017). Teratologies can be observed in natural diatom assemblages but with low frequency, yet the presence of multiple stressors increases their occurrence (Lavoie *et al.*, 2017), such as external contaminants. In the present study, in the first sampling moment, 3.82% of the total diatoms counted in the Up site were teratological, while in the Burnt were 4.71% and in the Down 15.3%. In the second campaign 10.3%, 1% and 17.63% were observed in the Up, Burnt and Down sampling sites, respectively. Dziengo–Czaja *et al.* (2008) reported a much higher percentage of teratological cells (around 25%), but in marine diatoms, due to contaminated marine sediments. Pandey & Bergey (2016) and Pandey *et al.* (2015) also stated deformities under Cu and Zn treatment on periphytic diatom communities.

As previously referred, ashes had no or a minimum impact in stream water as well as sediments, and therefore water class provided by diatom assemblages was the same (good water quality) for all three sites and both campaigns. In addition, and also as mentioned before, metals suffered an increment in the first campaign in the Down site, and on the second sampling moment on the Burnt. Relatively to the diatom community in those places, it's possible to observe a change of the dominant taxa, being in the Down sampling site of the first campaign Navicula notha (NNOT) and Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI), and on the Burnt site of the spring campaign Fragilaria rumpens (FRUM) and ADMI as well. In the remaining locations of both campaigns the dominant taxa were always ADMI and KOBG. As shown by Luís et al. (2009, 2011) and da Silva et al. (2009), metal contamination could have the ability to entail the algae communities' successions into more pollution tolerant species (Gustavson & Wängberg, 1995), which culminates in an increased tolerance of communities (Blanck et al., 1988), and in a possible reduction of species diversity and richness (Leland & Carter, 1984; Medley & Clements, 1998), as well as morphological modifications. Since the observed changes are minor, the alterations verified on the metals' concentrations are not reflected on diatom communities.

Previous studies (e.g. Cetin, 2008; Dela–Cruz *et al.*, 2006; Sabater & Roca, 1990) testified the influence of temperature on diatom communities, predominantly on

community diversity and composition. Elias *et al.* (2012) stated the influence of temperature and time of year on diatom communities, reporting differences between two groups of seasons: spring/summer and autumn/winter. They verified the occurrence of 17 species in spring/summer that were absent in the autumn/winter. Some of these taxa were also found in our study only in spring/summer (*Nitzschia dissipata* - NDIS), or were more abundant (*Encyonema minutum* - ENMI, *Nitzschia recta* - NREC, *Eunotia minor* - EMIN, *Navicula rhynchocephala* – NRHY, *Gomphonema parvulum* – GPAR and *Eolimna minima* - EOMI). *Achnanthidium minutissimum* (ADMI) and *Gomphonema pumilum* (GPUM) were present in both studies with higher abundance in spring/summer. Like in the present study, Elias *et al.* (2012) stated that *Karayevia oblongella* (KOBG) was the dominant taxon through all year, which suggests low sensitivity to season changing.

Despite the observed structural differences on diatom communities, the EQR (IPS) values classified all sites in both campaigns as Good ecological status, because shifts in community structure replaced *taxa* with similar autoecology, the basis for the index used (IPS) (Kelly & Whitton, 1995).

# 4.3 Ecotoxicological Tests

The high severity AEA provoked a growth rate stimulation with increasing concentration of AEA in both species, which culminated in the observation of no toxicity. Contrarily, the low severity AEA induced toxicity to *Achnanthidium minutissimum* and *Nitzschia palea*, leading to a gradual decrease of growth with increasing AEA concentration. Zn and Cu have the ability to be absorbed by diatoms for growth, construction of membranes and cell walls, respiration processes and photosynthesis, but the optimal ranges for these processes are usually narrow (De Filippis & Pallaghy, 1994; George, 1990; Martin & Coughtrey, 1982). These metals are present in higher concentration in low severity AEA which, according to the decreasing growth rate curves, suggests that they overcome the previously referred narrow optimal range, or the noxious effects of other AEA chemicals outgrowth its benefits. ADMI was the most affected species with an EC<sub>50</sub> of 84.78%. Silva *et al.* (2015) and Campos *et al.* (2012) tested runoff with ashes from a medium – high severity wildfire in mixed stands of pine and eucalyptus and stated that they were toxic for the microalga *Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata* with an EC<sub>50</sub> of 35% and of circa 70% to 100%, respectively.

Among the factors that can constrain the growth of the aquatic producers, the total suspended solids assume a singular importance by reducing light penetration, the photosynthesis rate, and consequently contributing to lower growth rates (Moreira-Santos et al., 2004). Notwithstanding, studies by Kieskamp (2014) revealed that uncontaminated solids at similar turbidity values to ashes do not affect the growth of the green algae Raphidocelis subcapitata, while the species responded negatively to the presence of wildfire ash rich in toxic substances such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and metals. The differences in toxicity found between the Low severity and High severity AEA may be due to differences in its chemistry including the water-extractable nutrients (Pereira, Úbeda, & Martin, 2012). Both AEA presented similar concentrations of V, Cr, Ni and Cd, but the Low severity AEA possessed more nitrates and carbon in all of its forms, as well as higher concentration of Mn, Cu, Zn and Pb. Hence, diatoms could be responding to a higher toxicity in the Low severity AEA, since some metals exert effects that are substantial even in low concentrations, due to the fact that they can cause damage on the metabolic processes of the essential elements (Gifford et al., 2004; Morin, 2003), e.g. Cd (or Co) can replace Zn requirement (Price & Morel, 1990). The tolerance mechanisms define the responses to heavy metals, and if high levels are not tolerated by diatoms, algal growth is suppressed and cells will die (Gledhill et al., 1997; Payne & Price, 1999); but if present at non-lethal concentrations, tolerance mechanisms may allow metal accumulation that can be transferred along the food chain (Davies, 1978).

On the other hand, Mu *et al.* (2018) showed that exposure to Cd causes cell deformities and Pb induces an increase in width on diatoms as well as deformed frustules, also shown by Pandey *et al.* (2014) and seen in the present study. High severity AEA presented a range between 27.1% and 48% of teratological valves (100% and 25% concentration, respectively) for ADMI, and from 43.7% to 55.7% for NPAL at concentrations of 25% and 100%, respectively. Low severity AEA caused about 50% of teratologies in the total counted cells of ADMI in every concentration, being the lower value of 44.52% found on the maximum concentration, and the higher 50.3% at 25% concentration and the highest of 46.7% on 12.5% concentration. Taking this in consideration, ADMI presented more teratologies in the low severity AEA, while NPAL on the high severity, but no influence of the AEA concentration was observed. Falasco *et al.* (2009) suggest that teratological forms may be considered an indicator of ecosystem health, being their severity and frequency related to the stress magnitude. The proportion of abnormal organisms offers a basis for assessment of metal pollution (da Silva *et al.*,

2009; Falasco *et al.*, 2009; Morin *et al.*, 2012), and in the present study it is possible to verify the presence of contaminants, but all the percentage of teratologies are similar, not being possible to take any further conclusions.

Valve deformities may be a response to nutrient-rich conditions (Falasco et al., 2009), and the nutrient uptake in algae can also be influenced, among others, by light, temperature, nutritional status and pH (Shi et al., 2015). Light, temperature and pH were defined and controlled in the laboratory in order to avoid their influence on the toxicological tests performed. Teratologies can also be caused by low pH, organic compounds, drought conditions, salinity levels, light intensity, UV, other toxic compounds such as cyanide, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) and pesticides, as well as metal contamination, which makes teratologies a response to chemicals when in highly contaminated sites (da Silva et al., 2009; Falasco et al., 2009; Lavoie et al., 2017). Luis et al. (2009, 2011), da Silva et al. (2009) and Morin et al. (2008) also noted that with high metal concentrations diatoms suffer morphological changes. However, it's extremely difficult to distinguish the effect of a single metal on diatom communities, being the use of artificial microcosms a possible way to determine cause-effect relationships (Falasco et al., 2009). In the present study we selected two species with contrasting auto-ecology concerning saprobity and trophy: Achnanthidium minutissimum (ADMI) is considered a sensitive taxon, preferring high dissolved oxygen media; Nitzschia palea tolerates nutrient and organic contamination. Considering other issues of environmental contamination for example, Falasco et al. (2009) defined ADMI as a good indicator of heavy metal contamination.

When size reduction occurs and the frustule deforms (e.g. outline of the valves becomes oversimplified), the differentiation of normal and teratological cells becomes very difficult (Falasco *et al.*, 2009). In fact, with the decrease of the cell size, significant alterations in the number, pattern of striae and areolae, as well as shape occurs (Ross & Mann, 1986), as it was possible to verify in the present study. Morel *et al.* (1978) and Thomas *et al.* (1980) testified the swelling of the cells, as was also observed in this study in some ADMI valves. Frustule deformities were also described in previous studies mainly when diatoms were exposed to Cd and Zn (e.g. Adshead-Simonsen *et al.*, 1981; Barber & Carter, 1981; Cattaneo *et al.*, 2004; Dickman, 1989; Foster, 1982; Gold *et al.*, 2003; Harding & Whitton, 1976; Kelly & Whitton, 1989; McFarland *et al.* 1997; Thomas *et al.*, 1980; Yang & Duthie, 1993).

Since the chemical analyses *per si* ignores the interaction between contaminants as well as their bioavailability, the kind of ecotoxicological test performed in this study provides a more integrative assessment of the risks posed by wildfires to aquatic ecosystems (Smolders *et al.*, 2003). Additionally, there is not much literature concerning the toxic effects of runoff from recently Burnt areas on aquatic biota (e.g. Campos *et al.*, 2012; Nunes *et al.*, 2017; Silva *et al.*, 2015, 2016). This narrows the direct comparison of our results with the literature, as well as detailed analysis of the mechanisms of toxicity involved. In contrast, this sort of baseline studies could unleash further developments and encourage the investigation of the effects of wildfires on the aquatic biota.

# 5. Final considerations

Wildfires are environmentally unsettling due to loss of forest area and biodiversity, drastic and immediate impacts on structure and functioning of ecosystems, as well as environmental contamination through toxic elements (Silva *et al.*, 2015). They often threaten water quality (both chemical and ecological), through the transfer of eroded soil as well as ash into aquatic environments, which can induce toxicity (Santín *et al.*, 2015; Silva *et al.*, 2015). In addition, forest catchments are a significant source of drinking water all around the globe, therefore forest conservation is an important part of the integrated management of water resources and preservation of the ecological health of ecosystems (Santín *et al.*, 2015; Vilmi & Karjalainen, 2015). Hence, the capacity of anticipating these risks is vital for the implementation of effective post-fire mitigation measures as well as fire preparedness plans (Santín *et al.*, 2015; Silva *et al.*, 2015).

Since the ecotoxicological tests were performed under controlled and standardized conditions, the extrapolation of these results to actual environmental effects, must be made carefully. The results observed in the present study demonstrate that both species respond differently to the different AEA, with some variations that should be taken into account in lines of different ash, wildfire properties and local characteristics. In addition, the physiological changes induced are also expected in the natural environment, which will have potential consequences in the entire ecosystem, despite the supposition that no direct toxicity is expected for higher trophic levels (Silva *et al.*, 2015).

There is great interest in using diatom morphological aberrations in biomonitoring. Teratologies may be a valuable tool to assess ecosystem health and it can be assumed that their frequency and severity are related to the magnitude of stress. However, like in the present study, the detection and mostly the quantification of teratologies is still a challenge. Like us, not all investigations have succeeded in showing a relationship between the proportion of abnormal valves and contamination level along a gradient of exposure, but the type of deformity should be considered in biomonitoring due to the fact that not all offer corresponding information (Lavoie *et al.*, 2017).

In natural conditions, abiotic and biotic parameters, not addressed in this study, can impact the organisms' response to wildfires. The general ecological signal provided by these kinds of studies may suggest that the presence of stressors can affect other organisms, and consequently the ecosystem services, function and integrity (Lavoie *et al.*, 2017). Further research should be done in different organisms from different trophic levels, in order to understand the complexity of the potentially malicious ecological effects of wildfires. In order to evaluate their real impact in the ecosystems, long-term toxicity tests should be conducted.

### 6. References

Abdel-Shafy, Hussein I. & Mona, S. M. Mansour. (2015). A Review on Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: Source, Environmental Impact, Effect on Human Health and Remediation. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*. Egyptian Petroleum Research Institute, 25(1), 107 – 23.

Abrantes, N., Campos, I., Ré, A. & Keizer, J. J. (2017). An assessment of the toxicity of ash - Loaded runoff. *Wildfires: Perspectives, Issues and Challenges of the 21st Century,* pp. 281 – 300. In A. Bento – Gonçalves (Ed.), New York: Nova Science Publishers.

Adshead-Simonsen, P. C., Murray, G. E. & Kushner, D. J. (1981). Morphological changes in the diatom *Tabellaria flocculosa*, induced by very low concentrations of cadmium. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 26, 745 – 748.

APHA (American Public Health Association), 2017. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, 23<sup>rd</sup> edition APHA, Washingto, DC.

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. (1995). *Toxicological profile for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.* In : Public Health Service, Atlanta: U.S. Department of Health and Human services.

Auclair, A.N.D.. (1977). Factors affecting tissue nutrient concentrations in a Carex meadow. *Oecologia*, 28(03), 233 - 246.

Balfour, Victoria N. & Scott, W. Woods. (2013). The Hydrological Properties and the Effects of Hydration on Vegetative Ash from the Northern Rockies, USA. *Catena*, 111, 9 – 24.

Barber, H. G. & Carter, J. R... (1981). Observations on some deformities found in British diatoms. *Microscopy*, 34, 214 – 226.

Belillas, C.M. & Roda, F. (1993). The effects of fire on water quality, dissolved nutrient losses, and the export of particulate matter from dry heathland catchments. *Journal of Hydrology*, 150, 1 - 17.

Besch, W., Ricard, M. & Cantin, R. (1972). Benthic Diatoms as Indicators of Mining Pollution in the Northwest Miramichi River System, New Brunswick, Canada. *Internationale Revue der gesamten Hydrobiologie und Hydrographie*, 57(1), 39 - 74.

Beschta, R. L. (1990). Effects of fire on water quality and quantity. *Natural and Prescribed Fire in Pacific Northwest Forests*, pp. 219-232. In Walstad, J.D., S.R. Radosevich, and D.V. Sandberg (eds.), Corvaliis, Oregon: Oregon State University Press.

Birk, S., Bonne, W., Borja, A., Brucet, S., Courrat, A., Poikane, S., Solimini, A., Van de Bund, W., Zampoukas, N. Hering, D.. (2012). Three hundred ways to assess Europe's surface waters: An almost complete overview of biological methods to implement the Water Framework Directive. *Ecological Indicators*, 18, 31 – 41.

Bladon, Kevin D., Monica, B. Emelko, Uldis, Silins. & Micheal, Stone. (2014). Wildfire and the Future of Water Supply. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 48(16), 8936 – 43.

Blanck, H., Wängberg, S. & Molander, S. (1988). Pollution-Induced Community Tolerance
A New Ecotoxicological Tool. *Functional Testing of Aquatic Biota for Estimating Hazards of Chemicals*, pp 219 - 230. In J. Cairns and J. Pratt (Ed), West Conshohocken,
PA: ASTM International.

Blomberg, S. P. & Garland, T.. (2002). Tempo and mode in evolution: phylogenetic inertia, adaptation and comparative methods. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 15, 899 - 910.

Bodí, M. B., Martin, D. A., Balfour, V. N., Santín, C., Doerr, S. H., Pereira, P., Cerdà, A. & Mataix-solera, J.. (2014). Wildland fire ash: Production, composition and eco-hydro-geomorphic effects. *Earth Science Reviews*, 130, 103 – 127.

Bodi, M.B., Mataix - Solera, J., Doerr, S. & Cerdà, A. (2011). The wettability of ash from burned vegetation and its relationship to Mediterranean plant species type, burn severity and total organic carbon content. *Geoderma*, 160, 599 – 607.

Caetano, M., Fonseca, N., Cesário, R. & Vale, C. (2007). Mobility of Pb in saltmarshes recorded by total content and stable isotopic signature. *Science of the Total Environonment.* 38, 84 – 92.

Campos, I., Abrantes, N., Vidal, T., Bastos, A. C., Gonçalves, F., & Keizer, J. J. (2012). Assessment of the toxicity of ash-loaded runoff from a recently Burnt eucalypt plantation. *European Journal of Forest Research*,131(6), 1889 – 1903.

Campos, I., Abrantes, N., Jacob, J., Vale, C. & Pereira, P.. (2016). Major and trace elements in soils and ashes of eucalypt and pine forest plantations in Portugal following a wildfire. *Science of the Total Environment*, 572, 1363 – 1376.

Campos, I., Vale, C., Abrantes, N., Jacob, J. & Pereira, P.. (2015). Effects of wildfire on mercury mobilization in eucalypt and pine forests. *Catena*, 131, 149 – 159.

Carmo, M., Moreira, F., Casimiro, P. & Vaza, P. (2011). Land use and topography influences on wildfire occurrence in northern Portugal. *Landsc Urban Plan,* 100, 169 – 176.

Cattaneo, A., Asioli, A., Comoli, P. & Manca, M. (1998). Organisms' response in a chronically polluted lake supports hypothesized link between stress and size. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 43, 1938 – 1943.

Cattaneo, A., Couillard, Y., Wunsam, S. & Courcelles, M. (2004). Diatom taxonomic and morphological changes as indicators of metal pollution and recovery in Lac Dufault (Québec, Canada). *Journal of Paleolimnology*, 32, 163 – 175.

Certini, G. (2005). Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: a review. *Oecologia*, 143, 1 – 10.

Cetin, A. K. (2008). Epilithic, epipelic, and epiphytic diatoms in the Göksu Stream: community relationships and habitat preferences. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 23, 143 – 149.

Clemons, J. H., Allan, L. M., Marvin, C. H., Wu, Z., McCarry, B. E. & Bryant, D. W.. (1998) Evidence of estrogen and TCDD-like activities in crude and fractionated extracts of PM10 air particulate material using in vitro gene expression assays. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 32, 1853 – 1860.

Cowell, Amanda L., Ty, G. Matthews. & Peter, R. Lind.. (2006). Effect of Fire on Benthic Algal Assemblage Structure and Recolonization in Intermittent Streams. *Austral Ecology*, 31 (6), 696 – 707.

Cox, E. J. (1995). *Morphological variation in widely distributed diatom taxa: taxonomic and ecological implications*, pp. 335 – 345. In Marino, D. & M. Montresor (Eds), Proceedings of the 13<sup>th</sup> International Diatom Symposium. Italy: Biopress, Bristol.

da Silva, E. F., Almeida, S. F. P., Nunes, M. L., Luís, A. T., Borg, F., Hedlund, M., de Sá, C. M., Patinha, C. & Teixeira, P.. (2009). Heavy metal pollution downstream the abandoned Coval da Mó mine (Portugal) and associated effects on epilithic diatom communities. *Science of the Total Environment*, 407(21), 5620 – 5636.

Davies, A. G. (1978). Pollution studies with marine plankton. Part II. Heavy metals. *Advances in Marine Biology*, 15, 381 – 508.

DeBano, L.F. & Conrad, C.E. (1978). The effect of fire on nutrients in a chaparral ecosystem. *Ecology*, 59, 489 – 497.

DeBano, L.F., Neary, D.G., Ffolliott, P.F. (2005). Soil physical properties. *Wildland Fire in Ecosystems. Effects of Fire on Soil and Water* (General Technical Report RMRS-GTR-42, Volume 4, pp. 29–52). USDA Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station: Neary, D.G., K. C. Ryan, L.F. DeBano.

De Filippis, L. F. & Pallaghy, C. K. (1994). Heavy metals: sources and biological effects. *Algae and Water Pollution,* 31–77. In Rai, L. C., J. P. Gaur & C. J. Soeder (Eds). Stuttgart: E. Schweizer- bart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung. Dela-Cruz, J., Pritchard, T., Gordon, G. & Ajani, P. (2006). The use of periphytic diatoms as means of assessing impacts of point source inorganic nutrient pollution in south-eastern Australia. *Freshwater Biology*, 51, 951 – 972.

Delistray, D. (1997). Toxic equivalency factor approach for risk assessment of PAH. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 64, 81 – 108.

Demeyer, A., Voundi Nkana, J. C. & Verloo, M. G. (2001). Characteristics of Wood Ash and Influence on Soil Properties and Nutrient Uptake: An Overview. *Bioresource Technology*, 77 (3), 287 – 95.

Deniseger, J., Austin, A. & Lucey, W. P. (1986). Periphyton communities in a pristine mountain stream above and below heavy metal mining operations. *Freshwater Biology*, 16, 209 – 218.

Departamento de Gestão de Áreas Públicas e de Protação Florestal (Ed. or Eds.). (2017). *10º Relatório provisório de incêndios florestais – 2017- 01 de Janeiro a 31 de Outubro* (Report No. RIF10/2017). Portugal: DGAPPF.

Dickman, D. M. (1998). Benthic marine diatom deformities associated with contaminated sediments in Hong Kong. *Environment International*, 24, 749 – 759.

Earl, Stevan R., & Dean, W. Blinn. (2003). Effects of Wildfire Ash on Water Chemistry and Biota in South-Western U.S.A. Streams. *Freshwater Biology*, 48 (6), 1015 – 30.

Elias, C. L., Calapez, A. R., Almeida, S. F. P. & Feio, M. J. (2015). Determining useful benchmarks for the bioassessment of highly disturbed areas based on diatoms. *Limnologica*, 51, 83 – 93.

Elias, C. L., Vieira, N., Feio, M. J., & Almeida, S. F. P. (2012). Can season interfere with diatom ecological quality assessment? *Hydrobiologia*, 695(1), 223 – 232.

Esteves, S. M., Almeida, S. F. P., Gonçalves, S., Rimet, F., Bouchez, A. & Figueira, E.. (2018). Sensitive vs. tolerant *Nitzschia palea* (Kützing) W. Smith strains to atrazine: a biochemical perspective. *Ecotoxicology*, 27, 860 – 870.

Esteves, S. M., Keck, F., Almeida, S. F. P., Figueira, E., Bouchez, A. & Rimet, F. (2017). Can we predict diatoms herbicide sensitivities with phylogeny? Influence of intraspecific and interspecific variability. *Toxicology*, 26, 1065 – 1077. Etiégni, L, Campbell, A. G. (1991). Physical and chemical characteristics of wood ash. *Bioresource Technology*, 37, 173 – 178.

Falasco, E., Bona, F., Badino, G., Hoffmann, L. & Ector, L. (2009). Diatom teratological forms and environmental alterations: A review. *Hydrobiologia*, 623(1), 1 – 35.

Feio, M. J., Almeida, S. F. P., Craveiro, S. C. & Calado, A. J. (2009). A comparison between biotic indices and predictive models in stream water quality assessment based on benthic diatom communities. *Ecological Indicators*, 9(3), 497 – 507.

Fischlin, A., Midgley, G. F., Price, J. T., Leemans, R., Gopal, B., Turley, C., Rounsevell, M. D. A., Dube, O. P., Tarazona, J. & Velichko, A. A. (2007). Ecosystems, their properties, goods, and services. *Climate Change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability*, pp 211–272. Contribution of Working Group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. In Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Flannigan, M. D., Stocks, B. J., & Wotton, B. M. (2000). Climate change and forest fires. *Science of the Total Environment*, 262(3), 221 – 229.

Foster, P. L. (1982). Metal resistances of *Chlorophyta* from rivers polluted by heavy metals. *Freshwater Biology*, 12, 41 – 61.

Franklin, N.M., Stauber, J.L., Markich, S.J. & Lim, R.P.. (2000). pH-dependent toxicity of copper and uranium to a tropical freshwater alga (*Chlorella* sp.). *Aquatic Toxicology*, 48, 275 – 289.

Gabet, Emmanuel J. & Andy, Bookter. (2011). Physical, Chemical and Hydrological Properties of Ponderosa Pine Ash. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 20 (3), 443.

Geissler, U. (1970<sup>a</sup>). Die Variabilität der Schalenmerkmale bei den Diatomeen. *Nova Hedwigia*, 19, 623 – 773.

Geissler, U.. (1970<sup>b</sup>). Die Schalenmerkmale der Diatomeen, Ursachen ihrer Variabilität und Bedeutung für die Taxonomie. *Nova Hedwigia Beiheft,* 31, 511 – 535.

Geissler, U.. (1982). Experimentelle Untersuchungen zur Variabilität der Schalenmerkmale bei einigen zentrischen Süßwasser-Diatomeen. I. Der Einfluß unterschiedlicher Salzkonzentrationen auf den Valva-Durchmesser von *Stephanodiscus hantzschii* Grunow. *Nova Hedwigia Beiheft*, 73, 211 – 246.

Geissler, U.. (1986). The influence of different salt concentrations on some valve structures of *Stephanodiscus hantzschii* Grunow. *Experimental investigations on the variability of frustule characteristics of several freshwater diatoms, 2*, pp. 59-66. In Ricard, M. (Ed.), Proceedings of the 8th International Diatom Symposium, Paris 1984. Koeltz, Koenigstein.

Gensemer, R.. (1990). Role of aluminum and growth rate on changes in cell size and silica content of silica – limited populations of *Asterionella ralfsii* var. *Americana* (bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology*, 26(2), 250 - 258.

Genter, R., Cherry, D., Smith, E. & Cairns, J. (1987). Algal-periphyton population and community changes from zinc stress in stream mesocosms. *Hydrobiologia*, 153(3), 261 - 275.

Genter, R. B., Cherry, D. S., Smith, E. P. & Cairns Jr, J. (1987). Algal periphyton population and community changes from zinc stress in stream mesocosms. *Hydrobiologia*, 153, 261 – 275.

Genter, R. & Lehman, R. (2000). Metal toxicity inferred from algal population density, heterotrophic substrate use, and fatty acid profile in a small stream. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 19(4), 869 - 878.

George, S. G. (1990). Biochemical and cytological assessments of metal toxicity in marine animals. *Heavy Metals in the Marine Environment,* pp. 123–142. In Furness, R. W. & P. S. Rainbow (Eds.), Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Gifford, S., Dunstan, R. H., O'Connor, W., Roberts, T. & Toia, R. (2004). Pearl Aquaculture—profitable Environmental Remediation?. *Science of The Total Environment*, 319 (1), 27 – 37.

Gledhill, M., Nimmo, M., Hill, S. J. & Brown, M. T.. (1997). The Toxicity Of Copper (II) Species To Marine Algae, With Particular Reference To Macroalgae. *Journal of Phycology*, 33(1), 2 – 11.

Goforth, Brett R., Robert, C. Graham., Kenneth, R. Hubbert., William Zanner, C. & Richard, A. Minnich. (2005). Spatial Distribution and Properties of Ash and Thermally

Altered Soils after High-Severity Forest Fire, Southern California. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 14 (4), 343 – 54.

Gold, C., A. Feurtet-Mazel, M. Coste & A. Boudou. (2003). Impacts of Cd and Zn on the development of periphytic diatom communities in artificial streams located along a river pollution gradient. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 44, 189–197.

González-Pérez, J.A., González-Vila, F.J., Almendros, G. & Knicker, H.. (2004). The effects of fire on soil organic matter: a review. *Environment International*, 30, 855 – 870.

Granetti, B. (1978). Struttura di alcune valve teratologiche di *Navicula gallica* (W. Smith) Van Heurck. *Giornale Botanico Italiano,* 112, 1 – 12.

Gray, D.M. & Dighton, J.. (2006). Mineralization of forest litter nutrients by heat and combustion. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38, 1469 – 1477.

Gray, B. & Hill, W.. (1995). Nickel Sorption by Periphyton Exposed to Different Light Intensities. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 14(2), 299 - 305.

GSI Environmental Inc. (GSI). (2012). Retrieved from http://www.gsinet.com/en/publications/gsi-chemical- database/, Accessed 2019 November 20.

Gustavson, K. & Wängberg, S. A. (1995). Tolerance induction and succession in microalgae communities exposed to copper and atrazine. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 32, 283 – 302.

Harding, J. P. C. & B. A. Whitton. (1976). Resistance to zinc of *Stigeoclonium tenue* in the field and the laboratory. *British Phycological Journal*, 11, 417 – 426.

Hellawell, J. M. (1978). *Biological Surveillance of Rivers: A Biological Monitoring Handbook*. United Kingdom: Water Research Centre United (332).

Hellou, J., Leonard, J., Collier, T.K. & Ariese, F. (2006). Assessing PAH exposure in feral finfish from the Northwest Atlantic. *Marine Pollution Bull*, 52(4), 433 – 441.

Hughes, J. C. & Lund, J. W. G. (1962). The Rate of Growth of *Asterionella formosa* Hass. in Relation to its Ecology. *Freshwater Biological Association*, 42(2), 117 – 129.

International Agency for Research on Cancer (Ed. or Eds.). (1991). *Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans*. Vols. 43–53. Lyon: IARC.

International Agency for Research on Cancer (Ed. or Eds.). (2010). Some Nonheterocyclic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and some related exposures. *Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans,* 92, pp. 754 – 773. France: IARC

INAG, I. P. (2008). Tipologia de rios em Portugal Continental no âmbito da implementação da Directiva Quadro da Água. I - Caracterização abiótica. Ministério do Ambiente, do Ordenamento do Território e do Desenvolvimento Regional. Instituto da Água, I. P.

INAG, I. P. (2009). Critérios para a Classificação do Estado das Massas de Água Superficiais: Rios e Albufeiras. Ministério do Ambiente, do Ordenamento do Território e do Desenvolvimento Regional. Portugal: Instituto da Água, I.P.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2013). Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Stocker. In T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia (Eds.), IPCC.

Instituto Português do Mar e Atmosfera (IPMA). (2019). Área educativa - CLIMA DE PORTUGAL CONTINENTAL. Retrieved October 1, 2019, from https://www.ipma.pt/pt/educativa/tempo.clima/index.jsp?page=clima.pt.xml

Isabelle, H.. (2011). *Instruction: Medium DV preparation* (Report No. IT-03). France: INRA, UMR CARRTEL.

International Standarization Organization. (2013). - Water quality — Determination of selected parameters by discrete analysis systems — Part 1: Ammonium, nitrate, nitrite, chloride, orthophosphate, sulfate and silicate with photometric detection (Report No. ISO 15923-1:2013). Geneve, Switzerland: ISO.

Jahn, R.. (1986). A study of *Gomphonema angur* Ehrenberg: the structure of the frustule and its variability in clones and populations. *Proceedings of the 8th International Diatom Symposium 1984,* pp. 59 – 66. In Ricard, M. (Ed.), Paris, Koeltz, Koenigstein.

Jiang, Y., Laverty, K. S., Brown, J., Brown, L., Chagoya, J., Burow, M., & Quigg, A.. (2014<sup>a</sup>). Effect of silicate limitation on growth, cell composition, and lipid production of three native diatoms to Southwest Texas desert. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 27(4), 1433 – 1442.

Jiang, Y., Laverty, K. S., Brown, J., Nunez, M., Brown, L., Chagoya, J., Burow, M. & Quigg, A. (2014<sup>b</sup>). Effects of fluctuating temperature and silicate supply on the growth, biochemical composition and lipid accumulation of *Nitzschia sp.. Bioresource Technology*, 154, 336 – 344.

Keck, F., Bouchez, A., Franc, A. & Rimet, F. (2016). Linking phylogenetic similarity and pollution sensitivity to develop ecological assessment methods: a test with river diatoms. *Journal of Applyed Ecology*, 53, 856 – 864.

Kelly, M. G. & Whitton, B. A. (1989). Relationship between accumulation and toxicity of zinc in *Stigeoclonium* (Chaetophorales, Chlorophyta). *Phycologia*, 28, 512 – 517.

Khanna, P.K., Raison, R.J. & Falkiner, R.A. (1994). Chemical properties of ash derived from *Eucalyptus* litter and its effects on forest soils. *Forest Ecology and Management,* 66, 107 – 125.

Kieskamp, A. A. M. (2014). *Hydro-ecologische systeemanalyse van het brongebied van de Mosbeek*. Ede: Unie van Bosgroepen.

Knicker, H., González-Vila, F.J., Polvillo, O., González, J.A. & Almendros, G. (2005). Fire-indiced transformation of C- and N- forms in different organic soil fractions from Dystric Cambisol under a Mediterranean pine forest (*Pinus pinaster*). *Soil Biology and Biochemestry*, 37, 701 – 718.

Krammer, K. (2000). The genus Pinnularia. *Diatoms of Europe: Diatoms of the European Inland Watersand Comparable Habitats*, Vol. 1, pp. 703. Ruggell, Liechtenstein: A.R.G. Gantner-Verlag K.G.

Krammer, K. (2001). *Navicula* sensu stricto 10 Genera separated from *Navicula* sensu lato *Frustulia*. *Diatoms of Europe: Diatoms of the European Inland Watersand Comparable Habitats*, Vol. 2, pp. 526. Ruggell, Liechtenstein: A.R.G. Gantner-Verlag K.G.

Krammer, K.. (2009). *Amphora* sensu lato. *Diatoms of Europe: Diatoms of the European Inland Watersand Comparable Habitats*, Vol. 5, pp. 916. Ruggell, Liechtenstein: A.R.G. Gantner-VerlagK.G.

Krammer, K. & Lange-Bertalot, H. (1986). Teil: *Naviculaceae*. *Suwasserflora von Mitteleuropa*, Bd 2/1, *Bacillariophyceae* 1. In Gustav Fisher Verlag (Ed.), Stuttgart, Germany.

Krammer, K. & Lange-Bertalot, H. (1988). Teil: *Bacillariaceae*, *Epithemiaceae*, *Surirellaceae*. *Suwasserflora von Mitteleuropa*, Bd 2/2, *Bacillariophyceae* 2. In Gustav Fisher Verlag (Ed.), Stuttgart, Germany.

Krammer, K. & Lange-Bertalot, H. (1991<sup>a</sup>). Teil: *Centrales, Fragilariaceae, Eunotiaceae. Suwasserflora von Mitteleuropa,* Bd 2/3, *Bacillariophyceae* 3. In Gustav Fisher Verlag (Ed.), Stuttgart, Germany.

Krammer, K. & Lange-Bertalot, H. (1991<sup>b</sup>). Teil: *Achnanthaceae* Kritische Ergänzungen zu *Navicula* (*Lineolatae*) und *Gomphonema. Suwasserflora von Mitteleuropa*, Bd 2/4, Bacillariophyceae 4. In Gustav Fisher Verlag (Ed.), Stuttgart, Germany.

Lange-Bertalot, H., Hofmann, G., Werum, M. & Cantonati, M. (2017). *Freshwater benthic diatoms of Central Europe: over 800 Common Species Used in Ecological Assessment*. Schmitten-Oberreifenberg: Koeltz Botanical Books.

Lavoie, I., Hamilton, P. B., Morin, S., Tiam, S. K., Kahlert, M., Gonçalves, S., Falasco, E., Fortin, C., Gontero, B., Heudre, D., Kojadinovic-Sirinelli, M., Manoylov, K., Pandey, L. K. & Taylor, J. C. (2017). Diatom teratologies as biomarkers of contamination: Are all deformities ecologically meaningful? *Ecological Indicators*, 82, 539 – 550.

Lecointe, C., M. Coste & Prygiel, J. (1993). OMNIDIA—software for taxonomy, calculation of diatom indexes and inventories management. *Hydrobiologia*, 269, 509 – 513.

Leland, H. V. & Carter, J. L. (1984). Effects of copper on species composition of periphyton in a Sierra Nevada, California, stream. *Freshwater Biology*, 14, 281 – 296.

Liu, Y., Goodrick, S. & Heilman, W. (2014). Wildland fire emissions, carbon and climate: wild- fire–climate interactions. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 317, 80 – 96.

Lloret, F. (2004). Régimen de incendios y regeneración. *Ecología del bosque mediterráneo en un mundo cambiante*, pp. 101 – 126. In Valladares, F. (Ed), Madrid, Spain: Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, EGRAF, S.A.

Luís, A. T., Teixeira, P., Almeida, S. F. P., Ector, L., Matos, J. X., & Da Silva, E. A. (2009). Impact of acid mine drainage (AMD) on water quality, stream sediments and periphytic diatom communities in the surrounding streams of aljustrel mining area (Portugal). *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution*, 200, 147 – 167. Luís, A. T., Teixeira, P., Almeida, S. F. P., Matos, J. X., & da Silva, E. F. (2011). Environmental impact of mining activities in the Lousal area (Portugal): Chemical and diatom characterization of metal-contaminated stream sediments and surface water of Corona stream. *Science of the Total Environment*, 409(20), 4312 – 4325.

Mann, D. G. & Vanormelingen, P. (2013). An inordinate fondness? The number, distributions, and origins of diatom species. *The Journal of Eukaryotic Microbiology*, 60, 414 – 420.

Manoli, E. & Samara, C. (1999). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in natural waters: sources, occurrence and analysis. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 18(6), 417 – 428.

Martin, M. H., Duncan, E. M. & Coughtrey, P. J. (1982). The distribution of heavy metals in a contaminated woodland ecosystem. *Environmental Pollution Series B, Chemical and Physical*, 3(2), 147 – 157.

Martins, M., Ferreira, A.M. & Vale, C. (2008). The influence of Sarcocornia fruticosa on retention of PAHs in salt marsh sediments (Sado estuary, Portugal). *Chemosphere 71*, 1599 – 1606.

Mataix-Solera, J., Cerdà, A., Arcenegui, V., Jordán, A. & Zavala, L.M. (2011). Fire effects on soil aggregation: a review. *Earth Science Reviews*, 109, 44 – 60.

McBride, S. A. & Edgar, R. K. (1998). Janus cells unveiled: frustular morphometric variability in Gomphonema angustatum. *Diatom Research,* 13, 293 – 310.

McFarland, B. H., Hill, B. H. & Willingham, W. T. (1997). Abnormal Fragilaria spp. (Bacillariophyceae) in streams impacted by mine drainage. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 12, 141 – 149.

Medley, C. N. & Clements, W. H. (1998). Responses of diatom communities to heavy metals in streams: the influence of longitudinal variation. *Ecological Applications*, 8, 631 – 644.

Mellon, Cassie D., Mark, S. Wipfli. & Judith, L. Li. (2008). Effects of Forest Fire on Headwater Stream Macroinvertebrate Communities in Eastern Washington, U.S.A. *Freshwater Biology*, 53 (11), 2331 – 43. Mermoz, Mónica, Thomas, Kitzberger. & Thomas, T. Veblen. (2005). Landscape Influences On Occurrence And Spread Of Wildfires In Patagonian Forests And Shrublands. *Ecology*, 86 (10), 2705 – 15.

Miao, Shenyu, DeLaune, R. D. & Jugsujinda, A. (2006). Influence of Sediment Redox Conditions on Release/solubility of Metals and Nutrients in a Louisiana Mississippi River Delta ic Plain Freshwater Lake. *Science of The Total Environment*, 371 (1), 334 – 43.

Minshall, G. Wayne. (2003). Responses of Stream Benthic Macroinvertebrates to Fire. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 178, 155 – 61.

Moreira, F., Vaz, P. J. G., Catry, F. X. & Silva, J. S. (2009). Regional variations in wildfire susceptibility of land cover types in Portugal: implications for landscape management to minimize fire hazard. *International Journl of Wildland Fire*, 18, 563 – 574.

Moreira, F., Viedma, O., Arianoutsou, M., Curt, T., Koutsias, N., Rigolot, E., Barbati, A., Corona, P., Vaz, P., Xanthopoulos, G., Mouillot, F. & Bilgili, E. (2011). Landscape wildfire interactions in southern Europe: Implications for landscape management. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 92(10), 2389 – 2402.

Moreira-Santos, M., Soares, A. M. V. M., & Ribeiro, R. (2004). A phytoplankton growth assay for routine *in situ* environmental assessments. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(6), 1549.

Morel, N. M. L., Rueter, J. G. & Morel, F. M. M. (1978). Copper toxicity to *Skeletonema costatum* (Bacillariophyceae). *Journal of Phycology*, 14, 43 – 48.

Morin, S., Cordonier, A., Lavoie, I., Arini, A., Blanco, S., Duong, T.T., Tornés, E., Bonet,
B., Corcoll, N., Faggiano, L., Laviale, M., Pérès, F., Becares, E., Coste, M., Feurtet-Mazel,
A., Fortin, C., Guasch, H. & Sabater, S. (2012). Consistency in diatom response to metalcontaminated environments. *Emerging and Priority Pollutants in Rivers: Bringing Science into River Management Plans. Springer Berlin Heidelberg*, pp. 117-146. In Guasch, H.,
Ginebreda, A., Geiszinger, A. (Eds.), Berlin, Heidelberg.

Morin, S., Duong, T. T., Dabrin, A., Coynel, A., Herlory, O., Baudrimont, M., Delmas, F., Durrieu, G., Schäfer, J., Winterton, P., Blanc, G. & Coste, M. (2008). Long-term survey of heavy-metal pollution, biofilm contamination and diatom community structure in the Riou Mort watershed, SouthWest France. *Environmental Pollution*, 115(3), 532 – 542.

Mu, W., Chen, Y., Liu, Y., Pan, X., & Fan, Y. (2018). Toxicological effects of cadmium and lead on two freshwater diatoms. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 59, 152 – 162.

Munch, J.W., Grimmett, P., Munch, D., Wendelken, S., Domino, M.M., Zaffiro, A.D. & Zimmerman, M.L.. (2012). EPA Method 525.3 - Determination of Semivolatile Organic Chemicals in Drinking Water by Solid Phase Extraction and Capillary Column Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

Murphy, J.D., Johnson, D.W., Miller, W.W., Walker, R.F., Carroll, E.F. & Blank, R.R.. (2006). Wildfire effects on soil nutrients and leaching in Tahoe basin watershed. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 35, 479 – 489.

Neary, Daniel G., Kevin C., Ryan. & Leonard, F. DeBano. (2005). *Wildland Fire in Ecosystems, Effects of Fire on Soil and Water* (Report No. RMRS-GTR-42-vol.4), 250. Ogden, UT: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Rocky Mountain Research Station.

Nunes, B., Silva, V., Campos, I., Pereira, J., Pereira, P., Keizer, J., Gonçalves, F. & Abrantes, N. (2017). Off-site impacts of wildfires on aquatic systems — Biomarker responses of the mosquitofish *Gambusia holbrooki*. *Science of The Total Environment*, 581 - 582, 305 - 313.

OECD (Ed. or Eds.). (2011). Freshwater Alga and Cyanobacteria, Growth Inhibition Test. OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals, Vol. 301, pp. 1 – 62. OECD/OCDE.

Pandey, L.K. & Bergey, E.A.. (2016). Exploring the status of motility, lipid bodies, deformities and size reduction in periphytic diatom community from chronically metal (Cu, Zn) polluted waterbodies as a biomonitoring tool. *Science of The Total Environment*, 550, 372 – 381.

Pandey, V. C. & Singh, N. (2010). Impact of fly ash incorporation in soil systems. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 136, 16 – 27.

Pandey, L.K., Kumar, D., Yadav, A., Rai, J. & Gaur, J.P.. (2014). Morphological abnormalities in periphytic diatoms as a tool for biomonitoring of heavy metal pollution in a river. *Ecological Indicators*, 36, 272 – 279.

Paulsson, M., B. Nyström & H. Blanck. (2000). Long-term toxicity of zinc to bacteria and algae in periphyton communities from the river Göta Ä Iv, based on a microcosm study. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 47, 243 – 257.

Pausas, J. G. (2004). Changes in fire and climate in the eastern Iberian Peninsula (Mediterranean Basin). *Climatic Change*, 63, 337 – 350.

Pausas, Juli G. & Keeley, E. Jon. (2009). A Burning Story: The Role of Fire in the History of Life. *BioScience*, 59 (7), 593 – 601.

Pausas, J., Llovet, J., Rodrigo, A. & Vallejo, R. (2008). Are wildfires a disaster in the Mediterranean basin? - A review. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 17(6), 713.

Payne, C. D. & Price, N. M. (1999). Effects Of Cadmium Toxicity On Growth And Elemental Composition Of Marine Phytoplankton. *Journal of Phycology*, 35(2), 293 – 302.

Pereira, M. G., Trigo, R. M., Câmara, C. C., Pereira, J. M. C. & Leite, S. M. (2005). Synoptic patterns associated with large summer forest fires in Portugal. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 129, 11 – 25.

Pereira, J., Correia, A. V., Correia, A. C., Ferreira, M., Onofre, N., Freitas, H. & Godinho,
F. (2006). Florestas e biodiversidade. *Alterações climáticas em Portugal - cenários, impactos e medidas de adaptação (Projecto SIAM II),* pp. 301 – 343. In Santos F.,
Miranda, P. (Eds), Lisbon, Portugal: Gradiva.

Pereira, P., Úbeda, X. & Martin, D. A. (2012). Fire severity effects on ash chemical composition and water-extractable elements. *Geoderma*, 191, 105 – 114.

Pereira, P., Úbeda, X., Martin, D., Mataix-solera, J., Cerdà, A., & Burguet, M. (2014). Wildfire effects on extractable elements in ash from a *Pinus pinaster* forest in Portugal. *Hydrological Processess*, 3690, 3681 – 3690.

Plumlee, G. S., Martin, D. A., Hoefen, T., Kokaly, R., Hageman, P., Eckberg, A., Meeker, G. P., Adams, M., Anthony, M. & Lamothe, P. J. (Eds.). (2007). *Preliminary analytical results for ash and burned soils from the October 2007 southern California Wildfires: U.S. Geological Survey* (Open-File Report 2007–1407; 13). U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: USGS, Science for a changing world.

Ponder Jr., F., Tadros, M. & Loewenstein, E.F.. (2009). Microbial properties and litter and soil nutrients after two prescribed fires in developing savannas in an upland Missouri

Ozark Forest. Forest Ecology and Management, 257, 755 – 763.

Prygiel, J. & Coste, M. (2000). *Guide méthodologique pour la mise en oeuvre de l'Indice Biologique Diatomées* (Report No. NF T 90-354). Agences de l'Eau, Ministere de l'Aménagement du Territoire et de l'Environnement, Cemagref.

Qian, Y., Miao, S.L., Gu, B. & Li, Y.C. (2009). Estimation of post-fire nutrient loss in the Florida Everglades. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 38, 1812 – 1820.

Raison, R.J. & McGarity, J.W. (1980). Some effects of plant ash on the chemical properties of soils and aqueous suspensions. *Plant and Soil*, 55, 339 – 352.

Rinne, J. N. & Neary, D. G. (1996). Fire Effects on Aquatic Habitats and Biota in Madrean-Type Ecosystems: Southwestern United States. *Effects Of Fire On Madrean Province Ecosystems - A Symposium Proceedings 289.* 

Ross, R., & Mann, DG. (1986). *What is a diatom species?*, pp. 59 – 66. In Ricard M, (Ed.). Proceedings of the 8th International Diatom Symposium, Paris. Koeltz: Koenigstein.

Round, F.E., Crawford, R.M. & Mann, D.G. (1990). The Diatoms, Biology and Morphology of the Genera. *Cambridge University Press*, 747.

Rushforth, S., Brotherson, J., Fungladda, N. & Evenson, W. (1981). The effects of dissolved heavy metals on attached diatoms in the Uintah Basin of Utah, U.S.A. *Hydrobiologia*, 83(2), 313 - 323.

Ryan, K. C. (2002). Dynamic interactions between forest structure and fire behavior in boreal ecosystems. *Silva Fennica*, 36, 13 – 39.

Ryan, K. C., Noste, N. V. (1985). Evaluating prescribed fires. *Proceedings, Symposium and Workshop on Wilderness Fire,* pp. 230 – 238 (General Technical Report INT-182). In Lotan, J.E., B.M. Kilgore, W.C. Fischer, R.W. Mutch (Eds). Missoula, MT: USDA Forest Service, Intermountain Forest and Range Experiment Station.

Sabater, F., Butturini, A., MartÍ, E., Muñoz, I., Romaní, A., Wray, J. & Sabater, S. (2000). Effects of riparian vegetation removal on nutrient retention in a Mediterranean stream. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 19(4), 609 - 620.

Sabater, S. & J. R. Roca. (1990). Some factors affecting distribution of diatom assemblages in Pyrenean springs. *Freshwater Biology*, 24, 493 – 507.

Santín, C., Doerr, S. H., Otero, X. L., & Chafer, C. J. (2015). Quantity, composition and water contamination potential of ash produced under different wildfire severities. *Environmental Research*, 142, 297 – 308.

Say, P. J. & B. A. Whitton. (1980). Changes in flora down a stream showing a zinc gradient. *Hydrobiologia*, 76, 255 – 262.

Schindler, D.W., Newbury, R.W., Beaty, K.G., Prokopowich, J., Ruszcznski, T. & Dulton, J.A. (1980). Effects of a windstorm and forest fire on the chemical losses from forested watersheds and on the quality of receiving streams. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 37(3), 328.

Schmid, A. M. (1976). Licht- und rasterelektronenmikroskopische Schalenana- lyse der umweltabhängigen Zyklomorphose von *Anomoeoneis sphaerophora* (Kg.) Pfitzer. *Morphologische und physiologische Untersuchungen an Diatomeen des Neusiedler Sees*: II, 28, pp. 309-351. Nova Hedwigia.

Schultz, M. E. (1971). Salinity related polymorphism in the brackish-water diatom Cyclotella cryptica. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 49, 1285 – 1289.

Shakesby, R. A. (2011). Earth-Science Reviews Post-wildfire soil erosion in the Mediterranean : Review and future research directions. *Earth Science Reviews*, 105(3 – 4), 71 – 100.

Shakesby, R. A. & Doerr, S. H. (2006). Wildfire as a Hydrological and Geomorphological Agent. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 74 (3 - 4), 269 – 307.

Shi, P., Shen, H., Wang, W., Chen, W., & Xie, P. (2015). The relationship between light intensity and nutrient uptake kinetics in six freshwater diatoms. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 34, 28 – 36.

Silva, V., Abrantes, N., Costa, R., Keizer, J. J., Gonçalves, F., & Pereira, J. L. (2016). Effects of ash-loaded post-fire runoff on the freshwater clam *Corbicula fluminea*. *Ecological Engineering*, *90*, 180 – 189.

Silva, V., Pereira, J. L., Campos, I., Keizer, J. J., Gonçalves, F., & Abrantes, N. (2015). Toxicity assessment of aqueous extracts of ash from forest fires. *Catena*, 135, 401 – 408. Smith, Hugh G., Gary, J. Sheridan., Patrick, N. J., Lane, Petter Nyman & Shane, Haydon. (2011). Wildfire Effects on Water Quality in Forest Catchments: A Review with Implications for Water Supply. *Journal of Hydrology*, 396 (1–2). Elsevier B.V.: 170 – 92.

Smolders, R., Bervoets, L., Wepener, V. &Blust, R. (2003). A conceptual framework for using mussels as biomonitors in whole effluent toxicity. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment,* 9, 741 – 760.

Sistema Nacional de Informação de Recursos Hídricos (SNIR). (2019). Página de entrada do SNIRH. In: SNIRH > Dados Sintetizados. Retrieved November 4, 2019, from https://snirh.apambiente.pt/index.php?idMain=1&idItem=1.1

Stein, J.. (1973). Culture methods and growth measurements. *Handbook of Phycological methods*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Stouthart, X.J.H.X., Haans, J.L.M., Lock, R.A.C. & Bonga, S.E.W.. (1996). Effects of water pH on copper toxicity to early life stages of the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry,* 15 (3), 376 – 383.

Thomas, W. H., Hollibaugh, J. T. & Seibert, D. L. R. (1980). Effects of heavy metals on the morphology of some marine phytoplankton. *Phycologia*, 19, 202 – 209.

Thouzeau, Gérard., Jacques, Grall., Jacques, Clavier., Laurent, Chauvaud., Frédéric, Jean., Aude, Leynaert., Sorcha, ni Longphuirt., Erwan, Amice. & David, Amouroux. (2007). Spatial and Temporal Variability of Benthic Biogeochemical Fluxes Associated with Macrophytic and Macrofaunal Distributions in the Thau Lagoon (France). *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 72 (3), 432 – 46.

Tiedemann, A.R., Conrad, C.E., Dieterich, J.H., Hornbeck, J.W., Megahan, W.F., Viereck, L.A. & Wade, D.D. (1979). *Effects of fire on water: a state-of-knowledge review*, (Report No. WO-10). Washington, D.C.: Forest Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture general.

Trabaud, L. (2002). Post-fire vegetation recovery and dynamics in the Mediterranean area. *Fire, Landscape and Biodiversity: an Appraisal of the Effects and Effectiveness,* pp. 39–55. In: Pardini, G., Pinto, J. (Eds.), UdG, Girona: Diversitas.

Turner, M. G., Hargrove, W. W., Gardner, R. H. & Romme, W. H. (1994). Effects of fire on landscape heterogeneity inYellowstone National Park, Wyoming. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 5, 731 – 742.

United states Environmental Protection Agency (Ed. or Eds.). (1996). *Acid Digestion of Sediments, Sludges and Soils* (Report No. USEPA 3050B). Washington, DC: USEPA.

van Dam, H. Van., Mertens, A., & Sinkeldam, J. O. S. (1994). A coded checklist and ecological indictor values of freshwater diatoms from the Netherlands. *Netherlands Journal of Aquatic Ecology*, 28(1), 117 – 133.

Verkaik, Iraima., Maria, Rieradevall., Scott, D. Cooper., John, M. Melack., Tom, L. Dudley. & Narcís, Prat. (2013). Fire as a Disturbance in Mediterranean Climate Streams. *Hydrobiologia*, 719 (1). Springer Netherlands: 353 – 82.

Verma, S. & Jayakumar, S. (2012). Impact of forest fire on physical, chemical and biological properties of soil: a review. *Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Science*, 2 (3), 168 – 176.

Vieira, C. (2014). Diatomáceas. *Paleontologia – Microfósseis paleoinvertebrados*, pp. 110–138. In Carvlho, I. (Ed.), Editora Interciência.

Vila-Escalé, M., Vegas-Vilarrúbia, T. & Prat, N. (2007). Release of polycyclic aromatic compounds into a Mediterranean creek (Catalonia, NE Spain) after a forest fire. *Water Research*, 41, 2171 – 2179.

Vilmi, A., & Karjalainen, S. M. (2015). Freshwater diatoms as environmental indicators: evaluating the effects of eutrophication using species morphology and biological indices. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 187(243), 1 – 10.

Wang, Wuncheng. (1987). Factors Affecting Metal Toxicity to (and Accumulation by) Aquatic Organisms — Overview. *Environment International*, 13 (6), 437 – 57.

Wendker, S. & U. Geissler. (1988). Investigations on valve morphology of two *Nitzschiae lanceolatae*. *Proceedings of the 9th International Diatom Symposium*, pp. 469 – 480. In Round, F. E. (ed.), Bristol: Biopress.

West, P.W. & Lyles, G.L. (1960). A new method for the determination of nitrates. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 23, 227 - 232.

WFD. (2000). Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy, pp. 1 - 82. Official Journal of the European Parliament, L327 (22.12.2000). Wilde, K.L., Stauber, J.L., Markich, S.J., Franklin, N.M. & Brown, P.L. (2006). The effect of pH on the uptake and toxicity of copper and zinc in a tropical freshwater alga (*Chlorella* sp.). *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 51, 174 – 185.

Yang, J. R. & Duthie, H. C. (1993). Morphology and ultrastructure of teratological forms of the diatoms *Stephanodiscus niagarae* and *S. parvus* (Bacillariophyceae) from Hamilton Harbour (Lake Ontario, Canada). *Hydrobiologia*, 269/270, 57 – 66.

Zhang, R., Jiang, T., Tian, Y., Xie, S., Zhou, L., Li, Q., & Jiao, N. (2017). Volcanic ash stimulates growth of marine autotrophic and heterotrophic microorganisms. *The Geological Society of America*, 45(8), 679 – 682.

# Annex I – Table of taxa and correspondent number of valves per site in both campaigns (15/nov/18 and 05/jun/19). X represents observed but not counted taxa (XX for more abundant).

				15/nov/18			5/jun/19			
Таха		Up	Burnt	Down	Up	Burnt	Down			
Achnanthidium minutissimum (Kützing) Czarnecki	ADMI	58	48	97	191	84	78			
Achnanthidium minutissimum (Kützing) Czarnecki anormale	ADMT	-	-	65	34	4	50			
Cocconeis lineata Ehrenberg	CLNT	-	-	-	х	-	-			
Cocconeis placentula Ehrenberg var. placentula	CPLA	-	-	6	х	4	2			
Encyonema minutum (Hilse) D.G.Mann	ENMI	-	-	6	х	хх	15			
Eolimna minima (Grunow) Lange-Bertalot	EOMI	-	-	-	37	15	27			
Eunotia bilunaris (Ehrenberg) Schaarschmidt	EBIL	x	-	-	х	-	х			
Eunotia exigua (Brébisson ex Kützing) Rabenhorst	EEXI	-	1	-	х	х	1			
Eunotia minor (Kützing) Grunow	EMIN	5	x	4	4	4	4			
Eunotia myrmica Lange-Bertalot	EMYR	x	-	-	-	-	-			
Eunotia pectinalis (Kützing) Rabenhorst	EPEC	-	-	1	5	2	х			
Fragilaria perminuta (Grunow) Lange-Bertalot	FPEM	-	-	-	19	45	11			
Fragilaria dilatata (Brébisson) Lange-Bertalot	FDIL	-	-	-	х	-	-			
Fragilaria gracilis ØstrUp	FGRA	xx	-	16	х	2	х			
Fragilaria rumpens (Kützing) G.W.F. Carlson	FRUM	-	-	-	22	105	6			
Fragilariforma bicapitata (A.Mayer) D.M. Williams & Round	FFBI	-	-	-	-	11	1			
Frustulia vulgaris (Thwaites) De Toni	FVUL	-	-	-	-	х	-			
Gomphonema exilissimum (Grunow) Lange-Bertalot & E.Reichardt	GEXL	xx	-	-	х	х	х			
Gomphonema minusculum Krasske	GMIS	-	-	-	2	х	х			
Gomphonema minutum (C.Agardh) C. Agardh	GMIN	-	-	-	10	4	xx			
Gomphonema pala E. Reichardt	GOPA	-	-	x	-	-	-			
Gomphonema parvulius (Lange-Bertalot & E.Reichardt) Lange-Bertalot & E.Reichardt	GPVL	x	x	-	-	-	-			
Gomphonema parvulum (Kützing) Kützing	GPAR	XX	-	-	11	21	7			
Gomphonema pumilum (Grunow) E.Reichardt & Lange-Bertalot	GPUM	2	-	27	ХХ	-	10			

Gomphonema rhombicum Fricke	GRHO	5	2	23	4	XX	35
Gomphonema subclavatum Grunow	GSCL	-	-	-	-	х	-
<i>Humidophila contenta (</i> Grunow) Lowe, Kociolek, J.R.Johansen, Van de Vijver, Lange-Bertalot & Kopalová	HUCO	7	-	-	-	-	-
Meridion circulare (Grev.) Ag.	MCIR	-	-	-	6	х	Х
Navicula angusta Grunow	NAAN	4	4	44	2	4	х
Navicula cryptotenella Lange-Bertalot	NCTE	-	-	-	-	х	-
Navicula lanceolata (C.Agardh) Ehrenberg	NLAN	-	X	-	-	2	-
Navicula leptostriata Jørgensen	NLST	x	-	-	-	-	-
Navicula libonensis Schoeman	NLIB	-	X	-	-	-	-
Navicula notha J.H. Wallace	NNOT	13	-	116	5	9	2
Navicula notha J.H.Wallace anormale	NNOT	2	-	-	-	-	-
Navicula rhynchocephala Kützing	NRHY	-	-	-	-	-	х
Frustulia saxonica Rabenhorst	FSAX	2	4	1	х	х	-
Nitzschia dissipata (Kützing) Grunow	NDIS	-	-	-	4	8	х
<i>Nitzschia dissipata</i> var. <i>media (</i> Hantzsch) Grunow	NDME	-	-	-	2	4	3
Nitzschia epithemoides var. disputata (J.R.Carter) Lange-Bertalot	NEDT	x	-	-	-	-	-
Nitzschia inconspicua Grunow	NINC	x	-	-	-	-	-
Nitzschia palea (Kützing) W. Smith var tenuirostris Grunow in V. Heurck	NPAT	-	x	-	-	-	-
Nitzschia palea (Kützing) W.Smith	NPAL	2	-	-	х	-	-
Nitzschia perminuta (Grunow) M.Peragallo	NIPM	x	-	-	-	-	-
Nitzschia recta Hantzsch	NREC	-	x	-	х	-	-
Nupela lapidosa (Lange-Bertalot) Lange-Bertalot	NULA	-	4	-	-	-	-
Diatoma mesodon (Erhenberg) Kützing	DMES	x	-	-	6	16	4
Pinnularia sinistra Krammer	PSIN	-	-	-	-	х	-
Pinnularia subcapitata W.Gregory	PSCA	-	-	-	-	2	-
Pinnularia viridiformis var. minor Krammer	PVFM	x	-	-	-	-	-
Planothidium delicatulum (Kützing) Round & Bukhtiyarova	PTDE	-	-	-	-	7	-
Planothidium frequentissimum (Lange-Bertalot) Lange-Bertalot	PLFR	x	-	-	-	-	-

Planothidium lanceolatum (Brébisson ex Kützing) Lange-Bertalot	PTLA	-	-	-	х	-	-
Karayevia oblongella (Østrup) M. Aboal	KOBG	278	321	40	57	44	76
Karayevia oblongella (Østrup) M. Aboal anormale	KOTG	13	19	6	11	-	14
Psammothidium subatomoides (Hustedt) Bukhtiyarova & Round	PSAT	-	-	-	х	-	х
Surirella linearis W.M.Smith	SLIN	-	-	-	4	х	3
Surirella minuta Brébisson ex Kützing	SUMI	-	-	-	х	-	х
Surirella roba Leclerq	SRBA	-	-	8	х	4	4
Ulnaria biceps (Kützing) Compère	UBIC	-	-	-	-	2	8
Ulnaria ulna (Nitzsch.) Compère	UULN	2	x	4	х	4	2
Total number of valves		393	403	464	436	407	363
Nomenclature	Chemical Formula	Concentration (g/100mL)	Used quantity (mL/L)				
---	--------------------------------------	----------------------------	-------------------------				
Calcium nitrate	Ca(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub>	2	2.87				
Dipotassium hidrogenorotosfofate treehidratated	K2(HPO4) .3H2O	1	1				
Magnesium sulfate heptahydrate	MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H2O	2.5	1				
Metassilicato disodium pentahydrate	Na2SiO3.5H2O	2	1				
hexahydrate	FeCl <sub>3</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	0.013	6				
Sodium carbonate	NaCO <sub>3</sub>	2	1				
Trace Metal Solution (in a 1 L flask)	-	-	0.5				

## Annex II – Preparation of 1 L of Chu10 modified culture medium (Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962)

Trace Metal Solution (in a 1 L flask)				
Nomenclature	Chemical Formula	Concentration (g/100mL)	Used quantity (mL/L)	
Iron(III) chloride hexahydrate	FeCl <sub>3</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O		3.15g	
Copper sulfate pentahydrate	CuSO <sub>4</sub> 5H <sub>2</sub> O	1	1	
Sodium molybdate dehydrate	Na2MoO4 2H2O	0.63	1	
Zinc sulfate heptahydrate	ZnSO4 7H <sub>2</sub> O	2.2	1	
Cobalt(II) chloride hexahydrate	CoCl <sub>2</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O	1	1	
Manganese(II) chloride tetrahydrate	MnCl <sub>2</sub> 4H <sub>2</sub> O	1.8	1	

Nomenclature	Chemical Formula	Concentration (g/L)	Used quantity (mL/L)
Calcium nitrate tetrahydrate	Ca(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> .4H <sub>2</sub> O	20	2
Dipotassium hidrogenorotosfofate treehidratated	K <sub>2</sub> (HPO <sub>4</sub> ) .3H <sub>2</sub> O	40.62	0.323
Magnesium sulfate heptahydrate	MgSO4.7H2O	25	1
Metassilicato disodium pentahydrate	Na2SiO3.5H2O	21.2	2
Sodium carbonate	Na <sub>2</sub> CO <sub>3</sub>	21	0.95
Vitamin B <sub>12</sub> solution	-	0.0001	1
Thiamine solution	-	0.1	1
Trace Elements solution	-	-	0.1
Fe – EDTA solution **	-	-	10

## Annex III – Preparation of 1L of DVII culture medium (Isabelle, 2011; Stein, 1973; Hughes & Lund, 1962)

Trace Metal Solution* (in a 500 mL volumetric flask)				
Nomenclature	Chemical Formula	mg		
Boric acid	H <sub>3</sub> BO <sub>3</sub>	1550		
Copper sulfate pentahydrate	CuSO <sub>4</sub> .5H <sub>2</sub> O	62.5		
Manganese(II) sulfate monohydrate or tetrahydrate	MnSO4. H2O / MnSO4 . 4 H2O	858.5 / 1115		
Zinc sulfate heptahydrate	ZnSO4 .7H2O	143.5		
Sodium tungstate dihydrate	Na2WO4 .2 H2O	16.5		
Ammonium molybdate tetrahydrate	(NH4)6M07O24, 4 H2O	44		
Potassium bromate	KBr	59.5		
Potassium iodide	KI	41.5		
Cadmium nitrate	Cd(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> .4 H <sub>2</sub> O	77		

hydrate			
Cobalt(II) nitrate hexahydrate	Co(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> .6 H <sub>2</sub> O	73	
Nickel(II) nitrate hexahydrate or Ammonium Nickel Sulphate Hexahydrate	Ni(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> . 6 H <sub>2</sub> O / NiSO4(NH4) <sub>2</sub> SO4 . 6 H <sub>2</sub> O	72.9 / 99	
Chromium(III) nitrate nonahydrate or heptahydrate	Cr(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> .9 H <sub>2</sub> O / Cr(NO <sub>3</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> .7 H <sub>2</sub> O	20.3 / 18.5	
Ammonium metavanadate or Aluminium sulfate hexadecahydrate	NH4VO3 / V2O4(SO4)3 .16 H2O	5.5 / 17.5	
? / potassium alumen?	AI(SO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> K .12 H <sub>2</sub> O / AI <sub>2</sub> (SO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> K <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> .24 H <sub>2</sub> O	237 / 237	
	Fe-EDTA solution*	*	
a)	323.52 mg of EDTA-Na <sub>2</sub> .2 H <sub>2</sub> adjust the volume with milli – Q v	2O in an 500 mL volumetric flask an water.	
b)	1 mL of concentrated HCL in a 100 mL volumetric flask and adjust the volume with milli – Q water.		
c)	In a 1 L volumetric flask, transfer 500 ml of (a) solution and 10 ml of (c) solution then adjust to volume with milli-Q water.		

## Annex IV – SIMPER results relatively to diatoms' community structure.

Species	Average abundance	Average similarity	Similarity / Standard Deviation	Contributive percentage	Cumulative percentage
KOBG	7.03	23.51	1.66	41.11	41.11
ADMI	4.77	15.38	18.21	26.89	68.00
NAAN	1.51	4.51	10.90	7.54	75.53
GRHO	1.22	3.59	4.99	6.27	81.80
KOTG	1.33	2.87	0.58	5.02	86.83
NNOT	2.01	2.54	0.58	4.44	91.26

Table 17 - SIMPER results: autumn campaign (15/nov/18), with an average similarity of 57.19%.

Table 18 - SIMPER results: spring campaign (5/jun/19), with an average similarity of 62.87%.

Species	Average abundance	Average similarity	Similarity / Standard Deviation	Contributive percentage	Cumulative percentage
ADMI	5.45	12.81	9.21	20.38	20.38
KOBG	4.16	9.15	11.60	14.55	34.92
EOMI	2.46	5.75	4.90	9.15	44.07
FPEM	2.35	4.79	7.03	7.62	51.70
FRUM	2.84	4.17	2.63	6.63	58.33
GPAR	1.72	3.76	8.77	5.97	64.30
ADMT	1.94	3.63	2.08	5.77	70.07
DMES	1.38	2.81	9.96	4.48	74.55
EMIN	0.98	2.60	45.60	4.13	78.68
NNOT	1.08	2.20	3.89	3.51	82.19
NDME	0.84	1.97	8.66	3.14	85.33
KOTG	1.07	1.47	0.58	2.34	87.67
GRHO	1.29	0.89	0.58	1.41	89.08
GMIN	0.84	0.88	0.58	1.40	90.48

Table 19 - SIMPER results: autumn campaign (15/nov/18) and spring ca	ampaign (5/jun/19) with an
average dissimilarity of 58.03%.	

	15/nov/18	5/jun/19				
Species	Average abundance	Average similarity	Similarity/ Standard Deviation	Contributive percentage	Cumulative percentage	Species
KOBG	7.03	4.16	5.58	1.51	9.61	9.61
FRUM	0.00	2.84	4.65	1.71	8.01	17.62
EOMI	0.00	2.46	4.11	4.62	7.08	24.70
FPEM	0.00	2.35	3.87	3.33	6.66	31.36
ADMT	0.00	1.94	3.25	2.31	5.60	36.97
ADMI	4.77	5.45	2.90	1.73	4.99	41.96
GPAR	0.00	1.72	2.84	4.33	4.89	46.85
NNOT	2.01	1.08	266	1.67	4.59	51.44
DMES	0.00	1.38	2.27	325	3.91	55.35
GRHO	1.22	1.29	1.83	1.52	3.15	58.50
KOTG	1.33	1.07	1.60	1.20	2.76	61.25
NAAN	1.51	0.56	1.52	1.13	2.63	63.88
GPUM	0.89	052	1.47	1.21	2.53	66.41
GMIN	0.00	0.84	139	1.22	2.40	68.81
NDME	0.00	0.84	1.39	6.77	2.39	71.20
NDIS	0.00	0.79	1.29	1.28	2.22	73.42
ENMI	0.31	0.64	1.22	0.89	2.10	75.52
FSAX	0.70	0.00	1.18	2.26	2.03	77.56
UBIC	0.00	0.70	1.15	1.13	1.98	79.54
FFBI	0.00	0.71	1.15	0.99	1.98	81.51
SLIN	0.00	0.60	1.02	1.32	1.76	83.27
SRBA	0.36	0.66	0.96	1.12	1.65	84.93
EPEC	0.13	0.59	0.92	1.29	1.58	86.51
FGRA	0.50	0.23	0.92	0.93	1.58	88.09
CPLA	0.31	0.56	0.84	1.18	1.46	89.55
EMIN	0.63	0.98	0.78	1.07	1.34	90.89

## Annex V – PERMANOVA results relatively to the ecotoxicological tests.

	Unique	
t	perms	P(MC)
1.2263	7	0.305
1.2437	10	0.272
0.60187	5	0.572
4.234	10	0.017
1.6469	10	0.173
0.97758	7	0.392
3.5153	10	0.026
1.5595	10	0.222
3.3515	10	0.02
4.3166	10	0.011
	t 1.2263 1.2437 0.60187 4.234 1.6469 0.97758 3.5153 1.5595 3.3515 4.3166	tUnique perms1.226371.2437100.6018754.234101.6469100.9775873.5153101.5595103.3515104.316610

Table 20 - PERMANOVA results for ADMI on low severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 1 – 12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%.

Table 21 - PERMANOVA results for NPAL on low severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 1 – 12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%.

	Unique	Jnique		
Groups	Т	perms	P(MC)	
1, 2	6.7596	10	0.001	
1, 3	1.0242	5	0.343	
1, 4	7.0586	10	0.005	
1, 5	5.3708	10	0.007	
2, 3	5.2924	10	0007	
2, 4	3.1578	10	0.033	
2, 5	2.1423	7	0.097	
3, 4	3.8914	10	0.013	
3, 5	3.6677	10	0.028	
4, 5	0.81112	5	0.437	

		Unique	
Groups	t	perms	P(MC)
0, 1	39.981	10	0.001
0, 2	49.883	10	0.001
0, 3	27.814	10	0.001
0, 4	3.397	10	0.022
0, 5	1.834	10	0.28
1, 2	9.1515	10	0.004
1, 3	2.1975	10	0.094
1, 4	1.2481	10	0.268
1, 5	2.1043	10	0.095
2, 3	2.0226	10	0.12
2, 4	1.8614	10	0.139
2, 5	2.5233	10	0.05
3, 4	1.5598	10	0.187
3, 5	2.3159	10	0.082
4, 5	0.96509	10	0.365

Table 22 - PERMANOVA results for ADMI on high severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 0 – control, 1 – 12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%.

	Unique		
Groups	t	perms	P(MC)
0, 1	11.257	10	0.001
0, 2	8.3374	10	0.001
0, 3	10.29	10	0.001
0, 4	18.37	10	0.001
0, 5	16.771	10	0.001
1, 2	0.12347	10	0.923
1, 3	1.4104	10	0.231
1, 4	2.696	10	0.054
1, 5	5.0196	10	0.006
2, 3	1.2553	10	0.268
2, 4	1.8504	10	0.15
2, 5	3.7646	10	0.018
3, 4	0.18226	10	0.874
3, 5	2.4333	10	0.083
4, 5	4.5067	10	0.011

Table 23 - PERMANOVA results for NPAL on high severity AEA (Pair-wise Tests): 0 – control, 1 – 12.5%, 2 – 25%, 3 – 50%, 4 – 75% and 5 – 100%.